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          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Good morning.

          3  My name is Kendall Stewart and I am the Chair of the

          4  Immigration Committee.

          5                 Today we are going to examine the

          6  state of Immigrant Services in New York City.  This

          7  hearing will provide an opportunity for the Council

          8  to explore questions in greater depth regarding the

          9  Immigrant Opportunities Initiative.

         10                 Since the creation of this

         11  Initiative, the City Council has helped to improve

         12  the literacy in English language skills of thousands

         13  of people and have assisted thousands more New

         14  Yorkers to apply for U.S. Citizenship through

         15  immigrant programs.

         16                 In fiscal year 2006, the Immigrant

         17  Opportunities Initiative was funded $9.1 million to

         18  support both current and new EOSL Programs and

         19  Immigrant and Worker Legal Services.  Aside from the

         20  $9.1 million in Immigrant Opportunities Initiative

         21  funding, some of the City's Immigrant Services are

         22  funded with Federal Community Services Block Grant

         23  and Workforce Investment Act.  Dollars to support

         24  the total of $11.3 million in programs.

         25                 Nearly two-thirds of the New York
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          2  City population and one-third of the state's is

          3  comprised of immigrants and their children.  The

          4  City's challenge is to ensure that today's

          5  immigrants and their families can climb a ladder of

          6  social and economic opportunities and become full

          7  partners in assuring New York's economic prosperity

          8  in the coming decades.

          9                 To accomplish this, we must continue

         10  to provide beginner English civic's classes,

         11  assistance with immigration requirements, job

         12  referrals and other services needed to assist

         13  newcomers to integrate successfully.

         14                 We must also continue to front

         15  citizenship services by community- based

         16  organizations if we are to expand the capacity of

         17  not- for- profit agencies to meet the growing demand

         18  for immigration- related legal services.  The

         19  individuals that have devoted themselves to helping

         20  immigrants and their organizations have displayed a

         21  special and lasting commitment to the need of our

         22  newest New Yorkers and we at the City Council must

         23  not let them down.  There is one thing I always say

         24  that, just because we are all citizens and we have

         25  now earned the privileges, it doesn't mean that we
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          2  should forget those who have just arrived.

          3                 With that in mind I'd like to let you

          4  know that with me today is Council Member Michael

          5  Nelson, Council Member Darlene Mealy and Council

          6  Member Mark-Viverito.  I don't know if any of my

          7  colleagues have any opening statements or if they

          8  want to say something else.  No.

          9                 All right.  Our first witness we'd

         10  like to call --

         11                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Yes, we'd

         12  like to call the representative from the Department

         13  of Youth.  I have Kathleen Almanzar and Cindy

         14  Coster.  Colter, I'm sorry.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  If you can

         16  please identify yourself and then you may begin.

         17                 MS. COLTER:  My name is Cindy Colter

         18  and I'm an Assistant Commissioner at the Department

         19  for Youth and Community Development.

         20                 MS. ALMANZAR:  My name is Kathleen

         21  Almanzar and I'm the Deputy Director at the

         22  Department of Youth and Community Development.

         23                 MS. ROMAN:  My name is Matilde Roman.

         24    I am General Counsel for the Mayor's Office of

         25  Immigrant Affairs.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Do you have any

          3  written statement that you'd like to give us a copy?

          4    Any written statement?

          5                 MS. COLTER:  The statement from DYCD,

          6  I believe, was handed out.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Thank you.  You

          8  may begin.

          9                 MS. COLTER:  I'm here on behalf of

         10  Commissioner Geeny B. Mulger (phonetic).  Thank you

         11  for this opportunity to discuss services available

         12  to immigrants through DYCD.

         13                 As you know, DYCD facilitates youth

         14  and community development through contracts with a

         15  broad network of experienced community- based

         16  organizations throughout New York City. Together,

         17  with over 1,500 CBOs, we provide services that

         18  include after- school literacy, summer employment

         19  and other youth workforce development opportunities,

         20  legal assistance for immigrants and a variety of

         21  programs that foster the development and

         22  revitalization of our communities.

         23                 These services are funded with

         24  federal, State and City Tax Levy funds as well as

         25  private foundation grants that are open to City
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          2  residents including immigrants and their families.

          3                 Today, more than ever, New York City

          4  is a City of immigrants.  According to 2000 census

          5  data, New York City's foreign- born population

          6  increased by 38% since 1990.  In that decade,

          7  population growth in New York City is mainly

          8  attributed to the arrival of immigrants.  In New

          9  York City 2.9 million or 36% of the City's residents

         10  are foreign- born.  Immigrants bring a vast array of

         11  talents and abilities that enhance the vibrant

         12  multi- cultural society that defines New York.  They

         13  are vital to the City's civic, economic and

         14  cultural.

         15                 With the support of the Mayor's

         16  Office of Immigrant Affairs, DYCD is increasingly

         17  playing a critical role in the delivery of services

         18  to new New Yorkers and their families assisting them

         19  in meeting the challenges associated with

         20  establishing themselves in a new surrounding.  DYCD

         21  specifically has an Office of Immigrant Initiatives

         22  which  manages a broad range of programs to meet the

         23  specific needs of the City's immigrant communities.

         24  The office administers programs designed specially

         25  to address the educational, legal and social needs
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          2  of immigrants with a budget of approximately $20

          3  million.  The funding is primarily federal Community

          4  Services Block Grant and CTL funds.

          5                   In Spring 2004, DYCD released the

          6  Immigrant Special Initiative Request for Proposals.

          7  In preparation for the procurement, DYCD used

          8  demographic data to identify communities with the

          9  highest need for immigrant services.  DYCD

         10  considered data such as neighborhoods with the

         11  greatest density of recently arrived immigrants;

         12  communities where there are high concentrations of

         13  individuals who do not speak English at home or who

         14  speak  English less than very well; and areas where

         15  poverty levels remain high.  This analysis allowed

         16  DYCD to maximize the use of limited funding and

         17  helped accurately track where public dollars are

         18  being spent.

         19                 Funding through this RFP supports

         20  more than 100 organizations to provide New Yorkers

         21  with services of the following program areas:  Legal

         22  Assistance in the form of information on legal

         23  rights and responsibilities, counseling and

         24  application assistance and legal representation for

         25  immigrants seeking permanent residence or U.S.
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          2  Citizenship.

          3                 Secondly, we fund programs that

          4  address the unique needs of immigrant women.  The

          5  services in this portfolio include counseling

          6  immigrant women on health and family related issues

          7  and programs designed to help immigrant women become

          8  advocates for their families through a better

          9  understanding of the health and educational systems,

         10  to name a few.

         11                 Services for immigrant youth promote

         12  the healthy, mental, social, physical and cultural

         13  development of immigrant youth by promoting positive

         14  family and peer relations and facilitating

         15  educational and career development.

         16                 Another area is a specialized program

         17  that provides legal assistance for undocumented

         18  youth in the Foster Care System.  This group of

         19  youth, who might otherwise end up largely forgotten

         20  in a large, urban center like New York City are

         21  provided with information and counseling on legal

         22  rights and responsibilities that may include legal

         23  representation and application assistance based on

         24  special immigrant juvenile status.

         25                 Finally, recognizing the critical
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          2  role that English language skills play in an

          3  individual's ability to achieve their personal and

          4  professional goals, DYCD administers a wide array of

          5  English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) and

          6  civic instruction programs.  These services

          7  primarily benefit immigrants and their families.

          8  These programs offer ESOL instruction in a variety

          9  of formats providing individuals with the

         10  opportunity to attend the type of class that best

         11  meets their needs.  Through these programs,

         12  immigrant New Yorkers can access free English

         13  language classes, many of which also prepare

         14  immigrants to take the U.S. Citizenship exam.

         15                 Our language services, like our

         16  programs, are intended to provide high- quality

         17  programs to adults and immigrants during times when

         18  they are able to attend and in a format and a

         19  context that is of immediate value for them.  DYCD

         20  also directs the New York City Adult Literacy

         21  (NYCALI) Initiative.  Each year, over 12,000 adults

         22  and out of school youths attend these premier

         23  language programs.  Beginning in Fiscal Year 2007,

         24  an additional $5 million has been allocated to DYCD

         25  to support adult literacy and ESOL programs.
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          2                 In addition to our contracted

          3  programs that serve immigrants and their families,

          4  DYCD administers the Immigrant Opportunities

          5  Initiative supported by the City Council.  This

          6  Initiative expands the level of ESOL and civic

          7  instruction, legal assistance and services for

          8  immigrant workers, women and youth.

          9                 In 2002, DYCD launched a privately

         10  funded Family Literacy Program with a grant from

         11  Toyota Motor North America. Through this project,

         12  parents and their school- age children developed

         13  their English reading and writing skills together.

         14  A majority of the participants are non- native

         15  English speakers.  By partnering with public

         16  elementary schools, we piloted and developed this

         17  important literacy model.

         18                 During summer 2003, we issued the

         19  first City funded family literacy RFP.  The DYDC

         20  model is a comprehensive program that fosters the

         21  oral and written communication skills by working

         22  with two generations:  Parents or primary care

         23  givers and their children ages 5 to 8 years old.

         24  Using the school- community context is a tremendous

         25  motivator for parents to allocate the time needed to
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          2  become fluent in English and also serves to

          3  strengthen the family unit.

          4                 Yet another chapter in our literacy

          5  chronicle began just over a year ago with a site

          6  visit we made with New York Times Company Foundation

          7  president Jack Rosenthal to identify model immigrant

          8  service programs that the Foundation could help

          9  support.

         10                 This led to the formation of the

         11  Immigrant Family Literacy Alliance and a commitment

         12  from the Mayor for an additional $1.8 million in

         13  City funding to expand our family literacy programs.

         14    In response to the Mayor's announcement, The New

         15  York Times Company Foundation challenged other

         16  philanthropies to match this allocation at the rate

         17  of 50 cents on the City's dollar.  To date, this

         18  challenge has generated nearly $1 million to support

         19  family literacy programs throughout the City.

         20                 This public/private partnership model

         21  demonstrates how we can augment public services with

         22  private sector resources that address our mutual

         23  goals.  DYCD has played a leadership role in

         24  developing and providing meaningful programs with

         25  available resources with available resources to our
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          2  constituencies. Addressing the needs of immigrants

          3  and their families will remain a priority for this

          4  Agency.

          5                 Thank you for the opportunity to come

          6  before you today.  I am joined here by, as we said

          7  before, Kathleen Almanzar, Deputy Director, DYCD

          8  Office of Immigrant Initiatives. Deputy Commissioner

          9  Azi Khalili and Matilde Roman, General Counsel from

         10  the Mayor's Office of Immigrant Affairs.  We are

         11  pleased to answer any questions or address any

         12  comments that you may have.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Anyone else

         14  going to be testifying before I start asking

         15  questions?

         16                 MS. ROMAN:  I'm acting in my former

         17  capacity as Director of the Office of Immigrant

         18  Initiatives at DYCD.  I'm currently now the General

         19  Counsel for the Mayor's Office of Urban Affairs so

         20  that's my new capacity.  But, I'll be answering

         21  questions solely in my former capacity as Director

         22  of the Office of Immigrant Initiatives.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  And your name

         24  is?

         25                 MS. ROMAN:  Matilde Roman.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.

          3  According to the message of the Mayor for the

          4  Executive Budget Fiscal Year 2007, the City plans to

          5  utilize $5 million in federal funds to enhance

          6  literacy in the ESOL programs including $2.5 million

          7  for developing two television series that will teach

          8  literacy skills.  This funding is baseline and

          9  continues at $5 million in the outer years of the

         10  financial plan.  My first question is, what is the

         11  federal revenue source that the funding will be

         12  drawn from?

         13                 MS. COLTER:  You mean in addition to

         14  this money?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Yeah.

         16                 MS. COLTER:  Okay.  The current

         17  federal resources we're using Community Service

         18  Block Grant money for the Immigrant Special

         19  Initiative.  There's additional money Community

         20  Service Block Grant money- CSBG money in the

         21  neighborhood development area programs that are

         22  aimed at immigrants.  Health Set is another

         23  initiative aimed at immigrants using CSBG money.

         24  There's Weir money being used, federal money being

         25  used for NYCALI programs which is adult literacy and
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          2  ESOL.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  This $5

          4  million, how did they arrive at that particular

          5  figure?  That's a figure drawn out of a hat?

          6                 MS. COLTER:  No, I'm sure there was

          7  discussion back and forth.  I'd have to get back to

          8  exactly how that number was come up with.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  You think you

         10  can give us a little more detail as how this $5

         11  million included further details of the $2.5 million

         12  for television series and a balance of 2.5- you can

         13  give us a little more detail on how that to be used.

         14                 MS. COLTER:  Well, I think it's going

         15  to be used to augment the ESOL predominantly adult

         16  literacy and adult literacy- right now we're funding

         17  GED, ABE, Benol (phonetic) and most of the bulk of

         18  that will probably go towards ESOL.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  This past

         20  fiscal year, we have had quite a number of new

         21  groups that got funding and we hope to see the

         22  change.  From DYCD's standpoint, what do you think

         23  we can do to enhance the changes to see how best the

         24  funding can be used with these different groups.

         25                 MS. COLTER:  Okay.  First of all,
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          2  DYCD would love to share with you the information we

          3  already have concerning analysis we've done of the

          4  2000 census.  We would love to share with you the

          5  groups that we are currently funding and their

          6  annual VENDEX rating where we've seen service gaps

          7  in immigrant communities.  In addition and to

          8  specifically to address your question, I could see

          9  us providing greater technical assistance to new

         10  providers that are being given money.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Right.

         12                 There are different areas of

         13  immigration services. For example, you have legal,

         14  you have civics, you have English as a second

         15  language.  What would you suggest should be the

         16  ratio of the funding for those different areas.  Do

         17  you have any idea?  We know that much more groups

         18  that are doing ESOL and civics than does legal.

         19  But, I want to get an idea from you as to what is

         20  your idea; what did you thought (sic) about how that

         21  should be broken up.

         22                 MS. COLTER:  Well, currently we're

         23  doing I think it's about a 2 to 1 ratio- 3 to 1

         24  ratio the ESOL to legal.  The demand is greater for

         25  ESOL.  There are long waiting lines for the ESOL
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          2  classes and we know from our analysis that the

          3  greater demand has been for ESOL classes.  In terms

          4  of an exact ratio- this is the ratio we have right

          5  now.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Right.

          7                 MS. COLTER:  In terms of an exact

          8  ratio, I think we'd have to go back, do a little

          9  more analysis and come back to you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  The

         11  Administration did have Executive Order passed a

         12  couple of years ago and we have not been hearing

         13  much more about it since that passed.  How do you

         14  think is that standing up?  The Executive Order 41.

         15  How is it standing up from the Administration point

         16  of view?

         17                 MS. ROMAN:  Executive Order 41 is the

         18   "don't ask, don't tell" policy.  Currently every

         19  agency is in compliance with Executive Order 41.

         20  The Mayor's Office of Immigrant Affairs oversees

         21  and, essentially, follows up with the Agencies to

         22  insure that services are being provided to all New

         23  Yorkers irrespective of their legal status.  The

         24  Administration is committed to insuring that those

         25  that are in need of service are given the services
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          2  that are needed.  If you would like any further

          3  information in regard to that, I'm sure to be happy

          4  to meet with you on a one- on- one basis and discuss

          5  with you further as far as how we're following up

          6  with making sure that they are in compliance with

          7  Executive Order 41.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  There is

          9  another area I wanted to ask just if you know.  We

         10  did pass a bill whereby translation in HAC and

         11  municipal hospitals for the treatment of anyone who

         12  mainly speak a different language.  How is that

         13  going along?

         14                 MS. ROMAN:  That's the Local Law 73.

         15  That's the Language Access bill.  The Mayor's Office

         16  of Immigrant Affairs has- they've been key in

         17  insuring compliance on developing the internal

         18  policy for the agencies that have been directly

         19  affected by Local Law 73 as and have met regularly

         20  with not only those agencies but other agencies.

         21  We're looking forward to potentially looking at a

         22  city- wide language access for all city agencies,

         23  not just the agencies that have been delineated  in

         24  Local Law 73.

         25                 We've met on a regular basis
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          2  Interagency Task Force meetings with agencies,

          3  training them, best practices as far as the types of

          4  the need and the things that need to be done in

          5  order to insure that everyone has access to services

          6  and that limited English proficient individuals

          7  specially are insured access.  So, this is what the

          8  Mayor's Office of Immigrant Affairs has been working

          9  on.  If you want any further detail in regard to

         10  that, we'd be more than happy to meet with you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  We know that

         12  there is a federal law that is going to be passed

         13  very soon, hopefully by the end of this month,

         14  concerning immigration.  Is the City gearing up to

         15  deal with the rush of greater problems or trying to

         16  regularize folks that may need help to become

         17  documented, etc., with this new law that is pending?

         18                 MS. ROMAN:  We have been in

         19  discussions with immigrant advocates throughout the

         20  City and looking at ways, as far as preparing for a

         21  potential comprehensive immigration bill that may or

         22  may not happen this year.  At this juncture, we're

         23  looking for information sharing and trying to look

         24  at ways to disseminate information so that everyone

         25  who is eligible to apply could essentially seek the
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          2  needed benefits and services that they need.  Also

          3  looking at best practices as far as how to provide

          4  services.  So, this is something that we're in the

          5  initial stages of discussion.  I'm sure that after

          6  tonight's Presidential speech we'll have further

          7  discussion.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.  The

          9  Commissioner for the Mayor's Office of Immigrant

         10  Affairs at one time spoke about a hotline that the

         11  Mayor wanted to develop for immigrants and

         12  immigration.  How is that going or is it intact?  I

         13  know there are a flood of questions that had been

         14  asked.  Do you know anything about it?  Just

         15  identify yourself and then tell us.

         16                 DEP. COMMISSIONER KHALILI:  Good

         17  afternoon.  It's a pleasure to be here.  I'm Azi

         18  Khalili, Deputy Commissioner for the Mayor's Office

         19  of Immigrant Affairs.

         20                 I believe that Commissioner Linares

         21  spoke about 311.  311 is our central office where

         22  New Yorkers can call and receive information about

         23  any services that our City government provides to

         24  New Yorkers.  311 is available to provide services

         25  in 170 languages.  I believe that the Commissioner
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          2  spoke about that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Right, but

          4  specifically do you have trained folks who will be

          5  answering immigration questions.  That's what I'm

          6  looking at.

          7                 DEP. COMMISSIONER KHALILI:  When New

          8  Yorkers and immigrants call 311 and have questions

          9  regarding immigration related issues, they will be

         10  referred to the appropriate agency. If it's a

         11  health- related question that immigrants may have,

         12  they'll be connected to the Department of Health or

         13  HAC.  If they have questions about child welfare,

         14  foodstamps, they will be referred to ACS or HRA.  If

         15  they have very specific legal questions, then they

         16  would be referred to our office or the Immigration

         17  Hotline which is funded by the state and the

         18  Catholic Archdiocese.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  The Mayor's

         20  Office of Immigrant Affairs -- have they put in a

         21  request for any increase in funding in terms of

         22  running that department?  Because I know it was- the

         23  department was very small and we were asking in the

         24  past that it should be an office that rises to the

         25  standard of some of the other agencies so that, at
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          2  least, they can provide much more service for

          3  immigrants.

          4                 DEP. COMMISSIONER KHALILI:  Yes, as

          5  you're well aware, our office is a bridge between

          6  immigrant communities and the New York City

          7  government and agencies.  Our office is mainly

          8  involved in policy analysis and taking a look at the

          9  needs of immigrant communities and working with all

         10  our city agencies; making sure that those needs are

         11  met.  Our office does not provide direct services.

         12  As you can imagine, we have our city agencies

         13  providing those city services.  Our office primarily

         14  has been involved in connecting immigrant

         15  communities to needed services and also playing a

         16  policy role.

         17                 At this time, we're well staffed and

         18  the office is functioning well.  Within the Mayor's

         19  office, our size is a decent size.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Thank you.  Any

         21  of my colleagues have any questions?

         22                 DEP. COMMISSIONER KHALILI:  Thank

         23  you, sir.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Seeing none, I

         25  want to thank you.  We will follow- up with that
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          2  conversation as to how we can come up with some sort

          3  of criteria for communities organizations as to what

          4  they are doing and how they are doing it and how we

          5  can have some sort of guidelines that they should

          6  follow so that they can provide better services for

          7  immigrants.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Hi, can we

         10  have the representative from the Catholic Charities

         11  Department of Immigration Services?

         12                 MS. ONCIOIU:  Good afternoon.  My

         13  name is Rallica Oncioiu.  I am the Director of the

         14  Immigration Services Department at Catholic

         15  Charities Community Services Archdiocese of New

         16  York. Our agency has represented the interests of

         17  thousands of immigrants every year for the last 40

         18  years.

         19                 I want to thank the City Council and

         20  Councilman Stewart for sponsoring this hearing today

         21  on the state of Immigrant Services in New York City.

         22                 Catholic charities provide services

         23  at over 100 directly administered affiliated and

         24  sponsored agencies throughout the three New York

         25  City boroughs: Manhattan, Bronx and Staten Island
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          2  that overlay the Archdiocese's geography.  Through

          3  these agencies, as well as to hundredths of

          4  parishes, catholic charities is present in every

          5  community, in every neighborhood giving us

          6  unparalleled access to the many pockets of immigrant

          7  communities throughout the City.

          8                 The services we provide to

          9  immigrants, including competent and reliable

         10  immigration- related legal services, but also

         11  emergency food programs, employment training, ESOL,

         12  and family literacy classes have been the

         13  centerpieces of our work for 40 years.  As a social

         14  services arm of a historically immigrant church,

         15  catholic charity services a population that is

         16  dominantly immigrant with over 50% of our clientele

         17  either immigrant or first generation.

         18                 With three lawyers and eleven

         19  migration paralegals, Catholic Charities provides

         20  low- cost and free immigration counseling and legal

         21  representation to documented and undocumented

         22  immigrants.  The office's attorneys both supervise

         23  the paralegals and conduct direct representation in

         24  administrative interviews, hearings and court

         25  proceedings before the Immigration Courts and other
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          2  federal and state tribunals.

          3                 Under attorney supervision, Catholic

          4  Charities' experienced team of multi- cultural and

          5  multi- lingual migration paralegals conduct more

          6  than 2,000 legal consultations every year and files

          7  more than 2,000 submissions with USCIS including

          8  naturalization applications, relative petitions,

          9  green card applications and applications for work

         10  authorization.  In addition, Catholic Charities

         11  operates the New York Immigration Hotline which was

         12  referred to before.  A state- wide hotline funded by

         13  the New York State to provide information and

         14  referral to immigrants and their families.  We also

         15  operate the National Asylum Referral Line under

         16  contract with the Federal Office of Refugee

         17  Resettlement.

         18                 Together, the counselors that staff

         19  these operations answer more than 45,000 anonymous

         20  calls for information referral in 17 different

         21  languages every year.

         22                 Catholic Charities offers one- stop

         23  help to immigrants and refugees whose needs go

         24  beyond that for legal assistance.  Our paralegals

         25  and attorneys work closely with staff in other
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          2  departments to maximize the use and availability of

          3  language, health, housing, employment, counseling,

          4  child care, job training, youth, domestic violence,

          5  mental health and other services and resources.

          6                 As a recognized city leader on

          7  immigration legal issues since 1979, Catholic

          8  Charities has long worked in partnership with other

          9  community- based organizations as they develop

         10  responses to the immigration problems that arise in

         11  different immigrant communities.

         12                 Catholic Charities has, throughout

         13  the years, offered trainings in a variety of general

         14  immigration matters to community- based organization

         15  staff, provided periodic legal and procedural

         16  updates to community- based organizations, staff and

         17  management; conducted monthly legal meetings that

         18  staff from other agencies attend to identify and

         19  discuss individual and community issues.  We also

         20  actively participate in a bi- monthly liaison

         21  meetings with the Department of Homeland Securities,

         22  New York District Office.  We're also proud to be a

         23  founding member of the New York Immigration

         24  Coalition and continue to serve on the Coalition's

         25  Board of Directors.
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          2                 The New City Council has set a proud

          3  precedent in recent years by funding not- for-

          4  profit immigrant service providers.  Such funding

          5  has allowed Catholic Charities and other agencies to

          6  provide services to those who cannot afford to pay

          7  legal fees.  It has allowed us to enable immigrants

          8  to file petition to be reunited with their families,

          9  to become United States Citizens and permanent

         10  residents and to avail themselves of special laws

         11  that protect victims of trafficking, domestic

         12  violence, child abuse and neglect and violent

         13  crimes.

         14                 It is critical at this point in the

         15  evolution of national immigration policy for the

         16  City of New York to fund access to affordable

         17  immigration legal services providers. Increasingly,

         18  unscrupulous practitioners are taking advantage of

         19  confusion over the state of the law to prey upon

         20  those who are most vulnerable among us.  Continued

         21  City funding for competent, experienced, not- for-

         22  profit immigrant service providers is now more

         23  crucial than ever as these organizations offer the

         24  only realistic alternative to immigration

         25  consultants for increasingly taking advantage of the
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          2  confusion over immigration laws by charging

          3  exorbitant fees for services that cannot be

          4  delivered.

          5                 That's why we're here today to

          6  advocate for continued City funding of affordable

          7  immigration legal services. Competent, informed and

          8  continuously available immigrant legal services and

          9  ESOL literacy instruction such as those provided by

         10  Catholic Charities must be supported on a consistent

         11  basis in the city of immigrants.  Foundation grants,

         12  while welcomed, support special programs not general

         13  immigration services and are often not renewable.

         14  Established reputable agencies such as Catholic

         15  Charities and others present here need a steady

         16  stream of dependable funding in order to deliver

         17  consistent high- quality legal services and

         18  information to all those who seek the services.

         19  Continued City funding is particularly important

         20  because immigrants and their children comprise two-

         21  thirds of New York City's population.

         22                 Catholic Charities in the United

         23  States Conference of Catholic Bishops are affirmly

         24  supportive of comprehensive Immigration Reform.  We

         25  believe that as a nation, we must recognize the fact
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          2  that immigrants have always made significant

          3  contributions to our country and that we must allow

          4  undocumented persons living and working in the

          5  United States and foreign- born workers from abroad

          6  who are needed here to obtain work visas so they can

          7  live and work legally among us.

          8                 We believe that a comprehensive

          9  Immigration Reform program must be guided by three

         10  principles.  First, long term undocumented residents

         11  who have built equities in our country and worked to

         12  benefit our society should be allowed the

         13  opportunity to earn permanent resident status.

         14  Second, the family- based immigration system should

         15  be changed to reduce the unnecessarily disruptive

         16  waiting time for family reunification.  A factor

         17  that often leaves family members to come to this

         18  country illegally in order to reunite with their

         19  loved ones.  Third, a more generous temporary worker

         20  program with built- in protections for the local

         21  workforce should be put in place.

         22                 To conclude, Catholic Charities has

         23  provided high quality services to New York City's

         24  immigrants for decades but find itself unable to

         25  meet the growing demand particularly at this moment
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          2  when the nation's immigration system is on the brink

          3  of being overhauled.  We are grateful for the

          4  support that the City Council has provided for this

          5  vital work.  A continued commitment from the City

          6  Council to fund Immigration Services would enable us

          7  not only to continue to provide services to this

          8  vulnerable population that paradoxically is so vital

          9  to the economy and overall success of our City but

         10  also to be more responsive to the growing need for

         11  high- quality, affordable, immigration legal

         12  services in the many immigrant communities we have

         13  access to through parishes and affiliated agencies.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I have a few

         16  questions I wanted to ask.  You know that President

         17  George Bush has cut all community service block

         18  grant funding in this Fiscal Year 2007 Budget

         19  proposal.  How will that affect you?

         20                 MS. ONCIOIU:  We're not being funded

         21  through federal grants, although our Hotline is.

         22  Right now, I would have to say a lot of the funding

         23  that we have comes from UICD and from private

         24  foundations which is why I'm here and advocating for

         25  the City's support of our services because, with the
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          2  state of our funding and specially if Immigration

          3  Reform is passed and there will be more need than

          4  ever for our continued services, we will not be able

          5  to provide them unless we have a source of funding

          6  that's stable and consistent.  A lot of the grants

          7  that we've had over the years have been one or two

          8  year grants that has come and gone and that is not

          9  particularly helpful for an organization like

         10  Catholic Charities that has been around for a long

         11  time and we strive on providing long- term services.

         12                 A lot of immigration clients are not

         13  clients for a year.  Their cases are in our offices

         14  for years and years and you want to make sure we

         15  have the staff and the knowledge to service them as

         16  long as their case remains open with us.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  The services

         18  that you provide basically can be put into maybe

         19  three or four categories. One of them being legal

         20  services, immigration- related legal services.  I

         21  want to know around what percentage of your budget

         22  goes towards immigration legal services.

         23                 MS. ONCIOIU:  My department, the

         24  department I represent,- I spoke broadly about

         25  Catholic Charities in general and all the services
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          2  they offer but the department- I run the department

          3  of immigration services provides only legal

          4  services. Our entire budget is dedicated to that.

          5  That's three attorneys and eleven paralegals provide

          6  only immigration legal services and we have a

          7  problem meeting the need out there.  In other words,

          8  we have more people coming to knock on our doors

          9  than we can service at this point with our staff.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Well then, you

         11  also do ESOL.

         12                 MS. ONCIOIU:  Different departments,

         13  within Catholic Charities, do ESOL.  They're a

         14  smaller department than ours and, unfortunately, I

         15  will have to get back to you as to what their

         16  budgets are like and I can only speak for my

         17  department.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  You do have

         19  offices throughout the City of New York in terms of

         20  the different boroughs, etc.

         21                 MS. ONCIOIU:  The Archdiocese has

         22  three of the City's boroughs.  Manhattan, Bronx and

         23  Staten Island.  Queens and Brooklyn are a separate

         24  Diocese.  So we have offices in Bronx, Manhattan and

         25  we currently send one of our paralegals to Staten
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          2  Island to provide services there.  We also have

          3  offices throughout the lower Hudson Valley,

          4  servicing parishes upstate.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Do you have any

          6  questions Council Member Mealy?

          7                 MS. ONCIOIU:  I would just have to

          8  add one thing. Even though we only have offices in

          9  three boroughs, we service residents of Brooklyn and

         10  Queens on a daily basis because they come to our

         11  Manhattan office.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  But, you said

         13  your department specifically deal with legal.  In

         14  other words, you represent folks before the courts,

         15  as far as deportation, as far as-

         16                 MS. ONCIOIU:  Not necessarily there's

         17  deportation before the courts.  I think the most

         18  important service that we provide right now is

         19  consultations with anyone who walks in and has an

         20  immigration question.  This is an extremely valuable

         21  service.  As I was mentioning in my testimony,

         22  specially now because there's been so much confusion

         23  over immigration reform and what's happening.  There

         24  are a lot of people out there who prey on immigrants

         25  and undocumented and tell them that if they give
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          2  them $1,000, they're going to get them a green card.

          3  There's a tendency to believe that because there's

          4  so much misinformation our there.

          5                 What we do is, every Thursday, we

          6  have an open door policy and people come to our

          7  office and every single person who comes in is seen

          8  by one of our paralegals who will sit down with them

          9  and tell them if and whether they qualify for any

         10  immigration benefits; explain to them what the law

         11  is, what their possibilities are.  If they do have a

         12  remedy, then we will take that person's case.  It's

         13  not necessarily a court case.  It could be as simple

         14  as petitioning for relatives to come from a

         15  different country to join them in this country or it

         16  could be helping that particular person become a

         17  permanent resident or become a U.S. citizen.  So, we

         18  do a lot of just general application filing on

         19  behalf of immigrants.  Undocumented and documented.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  A couple of

         21  years ago, we had introduced this Immigration

         22  Service provider bill which has been passed because

         23  we had quite a number of unscrupulous immigration

         24  service providers.  We passed that bill- we want to

         25  know, since then, have you noticed any change in
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          2  terms of people coming to you more now than before?

          3                 MS. ONCIOIU:  I think what the bill

          4  has done is made people aware that not everybody who

          5  tells them they can provide them with a benefits

          6  (sic) can do so.  It's increased also- people now

          7  know that they could be taken advantage of and

          8  they're more careful in choosing who they go to.

          9  They also tend to complain more.  I think that we've

         10  seen a small rise in the number of complaints that

         11  we get.  Our Hotline gets complaints from people who

         12  say they went to a practitioner who took $10,000 and

         13  didn't do anything for them.  So, we have been

         14  getting those kind of calls.

         15                 But, right now I'm on a number of

         16  list serves and I am seeing alarming number of

         17  warnings as to practitioners out there.  I shouldn't

         18  say practitioners, as to people out there who are

         19  taking again advantage of the confusion over

         20  immigration reform right now to tell people that

         21  they can qualify for certain benefits that they do

         22  not qualify for and to take advantage of them and

         23  take their money.  That's one of our big concerns.

         24  At the very least, even though the current law does

         25  not allow us to help so many people.  The
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          2  undocumented among us are- at this point, there's

          3  not very much we can do for them.

          4                 But, one thing we can do for them is

          5  we can tell them the truth.  We can tell them that

          6  they do not qualify.  We can explain to them why

          7  they do not so that when they walk out of our

          8  office, they're not taken advantage by somebody

          9  else.  As I was saying before, it is a critical

         10  moment because perhaps some sort of immigration

         11  reform will pass this year.  Perhaps.  And if it

         12  does, it's going to be agencies like ours that have

         13  the knowledge and have the ability to help people

         14  take advantage of the changes in the law i order to

         15  become permanent residents or to start on that path.

         16                 You were asking the representatives

         17  who spoke before me, if the City was preparing for

         18  immigration reform.  I don't know if they are but I

         19  hope they are and I hope that they'll consider

         20  funding agencies like Catholic Charities and other

         21  agencies who are present in this room who have a

         22  good reputation and a good tradition providing

         23  competent high quality legal services.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Do you normally

         25  get referrals from other CBOs as to cases that you
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          2  have?

          3                 MS. ONCIOIU:  Absolutely.  We refer

          4  cases to CBOs, they refer cases to us.  We have a

          5  symbiotic relationship.  We often are on the phone

          6  with each other and we also try to be as- to offer

          7  advice before called upon and we have very

          8  experienced attorneys in our staff.  They frequently

          9  get asked questions by newer attorneys as CBOs, and

         10  we try to be as helpful as possible.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Although we try

         12  to stem the tide with some of these folks who have

         13  been ripping- off immigrants.  Is there anything

         14  that you see that we can do, that further stem the

         15  tide to help protect immigrants?  Anything else that

         16  we can do now?

         17                 MS. ONCIOIU:  If think if immigration

         18  reform of one sort or another passes, public service

         19  announcements that would give maybe a list or the

         20  New York Immigration Hotline number or some reliable

         21  referral for people who are very excited that maybe

         22  there's something they can do now to get a green

         23  card that they have one reliable place to go to and

         24  ascertain whether they qualify.  I think that would

         25  be helpful if a law should pass that would provide
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          2  some undocumented were to pass to permanent

          3  residence.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  So you see 311

          5  as playing a role in terms of doing referrals.

          6                 MS. ONCIOIU:  Well, I'm not

          7  necessarily saying 311 although I don't have

          8  personal experience calling 311 but the Immigration

          9  Hotline which is run out of our office with state

         10  funding.  I actually think that 311 refers calls to

         11  the New York Immigration Hotline.  They make

         12  referrals, not just for legal services but also for

         13  any kind of need that immigrants may have.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  How do you

         15  think that we in the City Council can help you do

         16  your work better with whatever you're doing?

         17                 MS. ONCIOIU:  I was mentioning

         18  before- throughout my testimony I kept saying

         19  consistent funding and I think this is key.  I've

         20  seen many organizations go through humongous staff

         21  changes.  They had grants that enabled them to have

         22  a large staff and service a high number of clients

         23  and those grants were discontinued or they were non-

         24  renewal and then they had to let go a lot of their

         25  staff and that is a big problem.  Not only because
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          2  you can't continue to serve and to respond to the

          3  need out there but also because, as I was saying

          4  before, immigration cases take years to get

          5  resolved.

          6                 Just to give you an example, right

          7  now a U.S. citizen can sponsor his or her sister to

          8  get a green card and it takes 14 years for that

          9  happen.  During those 14 years, that case is sitting

         10  in someone's office.  Well, if that office used to

         11  have 20 staff members and they lost their funding

         12  and now they have three staff members but 20,000

         13  cases, they're not going to be able to take care of

         14  those cases.  I think the best way for the City of

         15  New York to make sure that the immigrants in New

         16  York- their legal services needs are being met is to

         17  provide consistent funding to the organizations that

         18  have been around for a long time that have the

         19  knowledge and the staff and the reputation of

         20  providing services and just enable them to do so on

         21  a consistent basis over years.

         22                 It's like having a law firm.  Some

         23  big established law firms are always there.  The

         24  cases that are with them are with them and they're

         25  taken care of no matter how many years go by and
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          2  we'd like to be in the same position.  To do so, we

          3  need a steady source of funding.  I'm not saying

          4  that we should mainly be funded by City money, but

          5  I'm saying that that's something that I think a lot

          6  of organizations that have been doing this for a

          7  long time deserve to keep on going and they would

          8  only be a benefit to the community in general

          9  because we are a resource for other smaller

         10  organizations as well.  We have the knowledge and

         11  the staff to be a resource if we're funded

         12  adequately.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I asked a

         14  question to the administration as to what are they

         15  going to be doing or what are they doing with the

         16  pending change in the laws.  What are you doing

         17  knowing that there's going to be an influx of

         18  questions and immigrants coming into your office to

         19  deal with all the current issues that are going on

         20  now?

         21                 MS. ONCIOIU:  Our staff is being kept

         22  up to date with what's happening in Congress and we

         23  also- I've asked all of our paralegals and attorneys

         24  to talk to everyone who comes into our office with

         25  questions to talk to them about what's happening in
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          2  terms of immigration reform and to tell people to be

          3  prepared to a certain degree in certain small ways

          4  if something passes; to gather certain

          5  documentation.  We're preparing for- whatever will

          6  pass that will be of benefit to immigrants will

          7  probably include the need to prove that somebody's

          8  been in this country for a certain amount of time

          9  and worked for a certain amount of time and paid

         10  taxes.  So, we're asking people to start putting

         11  that evidence aside and be prepared to use it and to

         12  actually start looking for that kind of evidence and

         13  asking for it from employers, etc.  So, we're

         14  helping people prepare.

         15                 On the other side, we've also been

         16  very active in advocacy.  We're participating at the

         17  city level and through the Archdiocese at the

         18  national level in backing comprehensive immigration

         19  reform.  So, advocacy- wise we're very involved.

         20                 But our staff is already prepared.

         21  They have the knowledge.  If a law passes, our

         22  attorney will be able to digest what it is that

         23  people need to do to meet the criteria that are laid

         24  out by the law and we will be there to help whoever

         25  comes our way.  If the law that we would want to see
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          2  passes and 12 million undocumented people in this

          3  country have a chance to start on their way to

          4  permanent residence, will we be able to respond to

          5  everybody who walks in at the current level of our

          6  staff?  No.  But, right now without- we would think

          7  that if such a law passes there will be funding for

          8  agencies to provide more services.  Right now

          9  there's nothing we can do.  We can't hire more

         10  people, we just don't have the money.  If something

         11  happens, we hope to be able to if there will be

         12  money for us.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  The last

         14  question I have is, remember back in '86 when

         15  there's Amnesty; some basic things were required and

         16  every time there's a new immigration law or bill

         17  that's passed in Congress, there's some fine point

         18  things that you have to do.  For example, they have

         19  to learn civics, they have to learn English, they

         20  got to be- all these basic things. Are you putting a

         21  package like that together so that at least people

         22  can know now.  That's what you're saying?

         23                 MS. ONCIOIU:  We haven't put a

         24  package like this together but, again, other

         25  departments in Catholic Charities are- there's an
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          2  employment training program that also has an

          3  educational component so we do offer ESOL classes.

          4  We offer training.  We did use to offer civics

          5  classes.  I'm not sure if we do or not anymore but

          6  we had funding to actually offer civics classes and

          7  special classes for people who are applying for

          8  citizenship and we, unfortunately, lost that funding

          9  a couple of years ago.  But, we have the mechanisms

         10  in place that if reform is passed we have the

         11  wherewithal to put a package together.  The

         12  knowledge is there and the infrastructure is there.

         13  We'll probably need additional staff to respond to

         14  the need.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Thank you.

         16                 MS. ONCIOIU:  You're welcome.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  We will get in

         18  touch with you sometime later.  As soon as this bill

         19  is passed.

         20                 Our next --

         21                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  We'd like

         22  to call up the panel for the next presentation.

         23  Lynn Kelly, Jojo Annobil and Yisroel Schulman.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  If you can

         25  please identify yourselves and then we will start
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          2  with the first after you've identified yourselves.

          3                 MS. KELLY:  Good afternoon, I'm Lynn

          4  Kelly.  I'm the Executive Director at MFY Legal

          5  Services.

          6                 MR. ANNOBIL:  I'm Jojo Annobil,

          7  Supervising Attorney of the Immigration Law Unit of

          8  the Legal Aid Society. Good afternoon.

          9                 MR. SCHULMAN:  I'm Yisroel Schulman

         10  the President of the New York Legal Assistance

         11  Group.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: You can spin a

         13  coin- who should go first.  I think ladies should be

         14  going first.

         15                 MS. KELLY:  Thank you.

         16                 Immigrant workers in New York City,

         17  regardless of their citizenship status face enormous

         18  challenges in receiving fair treatment in the

         19  workplace.  New York state laws governing the

         20  treatment of workers apply to all workers regardless

         21  of their immigration status but in our experience

         22  employers routinely ignore wage and hour

         23  regulations, minimum wage laws and health and safety

         24  standards when employing immigrant workers.

         25  Immigrant workers are also unaware often of their
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          2  rights under the law and are reluctant to report

          3  abuses and seek justice.

          4                 When immigrant workers are paid below

          5  minimum wage or not at all, force to work schedules

          6  that violate wage and hour laws or are required to

          7  put their health and safety at risk, the results are

          8  not only devastating for the workers in his or her

          9  family.  All workers in New York City suffer when

         10  standards are lower and employers who brazenly break

         11  the law are not challenged.  Moreover, the City's

         12  economy suffers in the loss of tax revenues.

         13                 MFY Legal Services is dedicated to

         14  insuring that all New Yorkers who cannot afford an

         15  attorney have access to justice when faced with a

         16  civil legal problem.  Since initiating our Workplace

         17  Justice Project several years ago, we have worked

         18  with community- based organizations and workers'

         19  centers to educate workers and their advocates on

         20  their rights at the workplace and to provide advice,

         21  counsel on representation at administrative hearings

         22  and in court.  We have helped over 400 workers a

         23  year who are not paid, paid to little, denied

         24  benefits or forced to work in dangerous conditions.

         25                 As a result of our work with the
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          2  Fifth Avenue Committee in Brooklyn, we initiated

          3  litigation to address and challenge supermarket

          4  owners who routine locked- in cleaning workers

          5  overnight with no means of egress in an emergency.

          6  Although the suit was brought on behalf of three

          7  workers, it challenges an industry- wide practice

          8  that has been well documented by the Fifth Avenue

          9  Committee and the workers it organized.  This work

         10  has already spurred the City Council to enact more

         11  stringent penalties against employers who put

         12  workers in such dangers and we thank you for passing

         13  those improved protections.

         14                 In advocating for workers' rights,

         15  MFY Legal Services looks for opportunities to work

         16  hand- in- hand with neighborhood based organizations

         17  and workers' centers that interact on a daily basis

         18  with immigrant workers.  This way we can reach large

         19  group of workers and help train organizers and

         20  advocates on how to deal with common problems that

         21  occur everyday.  For example, we have trained many

         22  organizer in how to help workers successfully

         23  recover unpaid wages on their own and how to pursue

         24  a claim for unpaid wages in Small Claims court. MFY

         25  is proud to provide the legal muscle for organizing
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          2  projects.

          3                 The need for legal services to

          4  protect the rights all workers but especially

          5  immigrant workers who face such serious obstacles in

          6  the workplace is increasing as the low wage service

          7  sector of our economy experiences continued growth.

          8  We're committed to meeting the legal needs of

          9  immigrant workers. We thank the City Council for

         10  funding MFY Legal Services, part of the Immigrant

         11  Opportunities Initiative and we urge the City

         12  Council to continue funding efforts to help

         13  immigrant workers.

         14                 MR. ANNOBIL:  Good afternoon Chair

         15  Kendall Stewart and Council Members.

         16                 The Legal Aid Society -- sorry.  My

         17  name is Jojo Annobil.  I'm the Supervising Attorney

         18  of the Immigration Law Unit at Legal Aid Society.

         19  Good afternoon, again.

         20                 On behalf of the Legal Aid Society, I

         21  would like to thank the Immigration Committee for

         22  inviting us to present our views on the state of

         23  Immigrant Services in New York City.

         24                 Since the founding of the Society 130

         25  years ago, the Society has not wavered in its
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          2  commitment to serve low income immigrants of this

          3  great City.  Presently, the Legal Aid Society is the

          4  only civil legal services provider with a city- wide

          5  immigration law unit.  Committed to advocacy on

          6  behalf of New York City immigrant, before the United

          7  States Citizenship Immigration Services as well as

          8  representation in immigration court proceedings.

          9                 The Society is also the only legal

         10  service provider that is able to provide the full

         11  range of free civil legal services to the immigrant

         12  community without regard to lawful immigrant status.

         13    Because this is the only service provider not

         14  subject to federal legal services corporation

         15  limitations under the provision of legal assistance

         16  to immigrants.

         17                 With a staff of seven experienced

         18  attorneys, two paralegals and myself, the Legal Aid

         19  Society's Immigration Law Unit provides a full range

         20  of free immigration/legal services through several

         21  service models.  Since 2000, the Society's

         22  Immigration Law Unit has operated a Community- Based

         23  Immigration Outreach Project funded by the New York

         24  City Council and administered by the Division of

         25  Youth and Community Development.
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          2                 Under this project, an experienced

          3  paralegal case handler, working with a supervising

          4  attorney, conducts intake at community sites and

          5  provides comprehensive legal counseling and

          6  representation on complex cases involving legalizing

          7  immigration status and naturalization.

          8                 Other projects include a Community-

          9  Based Immigrant Legal Services Project which

         10  provides support, training and legal back- up

         11  assistance to community- based immigration

         12  counselors. The Northern Manhattan Immigrant Defense

         13  Project which provides community- based removal

         14  defense advocacy and court representation services

         15  to immigrants who reside in Washington Heights and

         16  the Bronx.  The Citywide Immigration Representation

         17  Project, in which the Society's the lead agency, is

         18  a collaborative program which provides direct

         19  representation to low- income immigrants including

         20  detained immigrants who are in removal proceedings.

         21  Finally the Society's Immigrant Youth Representation

         22  Project, which assists immigrant youth in foster

         23  care, to apply for special immigrant juvenile status

         24  and was partly responsible for the creation of the

         25  juvenile docket, a special hearing session for
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          2  unaccompanied minors in immigration proceedings.

          3                 Also funded by the Council and

          4  administered by DYCD is the Society's community-

          5  based Low- wage Immigrant Worker Legal Services

          6  Project.  Staffed by the Society's employment law

          7  Unit,  where our staff provide immigrant worker's

          8  counseling assistance and legal representation for

          9  employment related issues including wage and hour

         10  violations, health and safety violations or access

         11  to worker compensation benefits.  In addition, staff

         12  conducts outreach, education advocacy and provide

         13  technical assistance to several partnered community-

         14  based organizations to ensure that these workers can

         15  access available benefits and services.

         16                 In addition to these projects, the

         17  Legal Aid Society provides a full range of civil

         18  legal assistance to immigrants at the Society's

         19  neighborhood based offices in all five boroughs and

         20  specialize city- wide units.  Immigrants seeking

         21  immigration assistance can also obtain housing,

         22  public benefits, disability benefits, health,

         23  domestic violence, family law or tax representation

         24  through the society.

         25                 Unfortunately, none of the
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          2  immigration law Units projections are financially

          3  self- supporting.  Every year we stretch our limited

          4  resources to meet the demands for immigrant

          5  services.  City funding is therefore important for

          6  us.  That is why the Society is very pleased that

          7  the City Council continues to recognize the need to

          8  fund non- profit immigrant legal services.

          9                 For Fiscal Year 2006, the Council has

         10  provided the City with $330,000 for immigration

         11  representation and $150,000 for representing low-

         12  wage immigrant workers.  In order to fully

         13  understand the need for funding for non- profit

         14  legal services, it is important to understand what

         15  is at stake.  Today in this City, there's a

         16  tremendous demand for immigrant services especially

         17  quality and dependable legal services.  The sad

         18  reality is that despite all our efforts and the

         19  efforts of other legal service providers, the demand

         20  for free competent, legal services has surpassed

         21  capacity.

         22                 Over the past 10 years, immigration

         23  law has become increasingly complicated.  Beginning

         24  with the 1996 changes in immigration law, obtaining

         25  and maintaining legal status through the United
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          2  States Citizenship & Immigration Services has become

          3  a tortuous and dangerous process often leading to

          4  deportation from this country.  Language barriers

          5  also make it for non- citizens to navigate USCIS

          6  unpredictable rules and procedure changes which if

          7  not strictly adhered to could lead to the rejection

          8  and possible denial of applications.  Moreover, with

          9  the Department of Homeland Securities' increased

         10  enforcement of immigration laws since September 11,

         11  2001, immigrants have to be made aware of the

         12  immigration consequences of criminal convictions

         13  which may effect their status as green card holders,

         14  the ability to sponsor other family members and to

         15  become American citizens.

         16                 In December 2005, the United States

         17  House of Representatives passed H.R. 4437 a sweeping

         18  bill which includes a provision that would

         19  criminalize illegal residency in the United States

         20  and have a disastrous impact on the estimated

         21  650,000 undocumented non- citizens who reside in New

         22  York City.

         23                 Despite the tremendous need for legal

         24  assistance for immigrants in New York City, only a

         25  handful of civil legal services providers serve
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          2  immigrants in New York City.  Every year hundreds of

          3  New York immigrants are deported from this country

          4  and are separated from their loved ones because

          5  there is no right to counsel in immigration

          6  proceedings and they cannot afford to retain

          7  competent counsel.  Hundreds of undocumented

          8  children who are in foster care or in adoption or

          9  under guardianship turn 18 and become ineligible to

         10  apply for Special Immigrant Juvenile Status.

         11                 In the absence of adequate funding

         12  for immigrant legal services providers, immigrants

         13  are forced to seek assistance from unscrupulous

         14  notarios and immigration service providers who not

         15  only charge exorbitant fees but often botch a viable

         16  immigration application.  Those who cannot afford to

         17  pay the exorbitant fees simply do not file

         18  applications or try to represent themselves, often

         19  with disastrous consequences.

         20                 Funding provided by the City Council

         21  assists non profit service providers to support and

         22  expand services to immigrants in this City.

         23  Investing in legal services allows hardworking low

         24  income immigrant families to obtain and maintain

         25  lawful immigrant status, to access health care,
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          2  housing and public benefits.  Immigrants are also

          3  able to comply with complicated immigration laws and

          4  regulations and eventually apply to become citizens.

          5                 In conclusion, we urge the Mayor and

          6  the City Council to include the Immigrant

          7  Opportunities Initiative funding, part of which is

          8  used to support and expand the work of non- profit

          9  legal providers in the final city budget.  The Legal

         10  Aid Society will continue to work with the New York

         11  Immigration Coalition and other partners to restore

         12  the 10 million dollars. Thank you again for the

         13  opportunity to testify before you on this important

         14  issue.

         15                 MR. SCHULMAN:  Thank you.  I'm

         16  Yisroel Schulman and I'm the President of the New

         17  York Legal Assistance Group. New York Legal

         18  Assistance group was founded in 1990, it is a

         19  citywide civil legal services office.   Although the

         20  primary main office is here in New York, there are

         21  20 satellite offices located and housed within

         22  community- based organizations throughout all five

         23  boroughs.

         24                 The majority of our 30,000 plus

         25  clients served each year are immigrants.  In 2005,
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          2  NYLAG served over 4,000 immigrants in immigration

          3  law related matters.  Our immigrant protection unit

          4  presently consists of 8 full- time attorneys and two

          5  full- time paralegals together with our volunteer

          6  division, the additional 6 full- time equivalent

          7  attorneys providing immigration law related

          8  services.  In addition, we have two full time

          9  attorneys and one full- time paralegal in our

         10  Immigrant Worker's Rights Projects working with low-

         11  income immigrants and minimum wage cases, health and

         12  safety cases, discrimination cases.  Further, we

         13  have a staff of 24 full- time attorneys working with

         14  immigrants in the areas of public benefits and

         15  consumer protection as oftentimes immigration status

         16  affects receipt of government benefits such as

         17  Medicaid, food stamps, income maintenance programs

         18  as well.

         19                 The New York Legal Assistance Group

         20  is extremely grateful to the New York City Council

         21  and to the DYCD for the funding of its immigration

         22  protection unit which has enabled us -- we use City

         23  Council funding to hire additional staffing in order

         24  to meet increased needs for our services.  Even so,

         25  we are still, through our 20 off- site CBOs in our
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          2  primary office here in Manhattan, we're still only

          3  able to assist a small percentage of those

          4  immigrants requesting legal services.

          5                 Our legal services for immigrants

          6  falls into obviously two broad categories.  Legal

          7  services for illegal immigrants and legal services

          8  for legal immigrants.  In terms of legal immigrants,

          9  the majority of our cases are adjustment of status

         10  cases, asylum cases, assistance and naturalization.

         11  Recently, the New York Legal Assistance Group filed

         12  44 mandamus cases in the federal court to try to

         13  compel USCIS to speed up the processing of

         14  applications for citizenship.  In addition, in the

         15  area of illegal -- from Legal Services on behalf of

         16  illegal immigrants, we're working very heavily in

         17  legalizing status through T- visas which are

         18  trafficking visas.  U- visas which is visas for

         19  cooperative witnesses and VAWA, Violence Against

         20  Women's Act, self- petitioning as well as removal

         21  proceedings on the deferred status proceedings.

         22                 Once again, we're very grateful for

         23  the opportunity to be here today and we're very

         24  grateful to the City Council.

         25                 I should of just added, we also- I
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          2  apologize- we also have a- we have a case

          3  consultation service for immigrants which operates

          4  five days a week, 9 to 5.  Last year that hotline

          5  serviced somewhere in the neighborhood of 10,000

          6  immigrants calling and requesting information and/or

          7  referral and obviously referral within our own

          8  immigration protection unit.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I want to go

         10  back to Annobil.  Did I pronounce it right?

         11                 MR. ANNOBIL:  Annobil, yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  You spoke about

         13  the hundreds of undocumented children who are in

         14  foster care or in adoption or under guardianship

         15  under 18.  What really is available?  What, legally,

         16  what is available for those children?

         17                 MR. ANNOBIL:  Under the Special

         18  Immigration Juvenile Status provisions, any child

         19  who is under age and undocumented who is under the

         20  care of a family court or the family court makes a

         21  finding that the child has either been abused,

         22  neglected or abandoned by a parent and that it's not

         23  in the long- term interest of the child to be

         24  returned to his or her country, that child is

         25  afforded the opportunity to apply for change of
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          2  status; for legal status just by whether the child

          3  came here undocumented or not.  What happens

          4  invariable is that right now DYCD has a program

          5  where they allow their funding- a part of our agency

          6  the Juvenile Rights Division to work with ASCS on

          7  this.

          8                 But what happens and I'm sure if

          9  you've been following the news recently, there's a

         10  recent article profiling a young man from Senegal,

         11  Mr. Amadu Lei (phonetic) who is represented by our

         12  Unit.  Mr. Lei was brought here five years ago by

         13  his mother, came on a visitor's visa.  The mother

         14  left him here in the care of an aunt who immediately

         15  the mother left abandoned the child.  The child was

         16  supposed to live with this aunt somewhere in

         17  Atlanta; returned to New York and basically was on

         18  his own.  If this child someone had at least adopted

         19  or this child had gone into guardianship or under

         20  ACS, the child would not been able to apply for

         21  Special Immigrant Juvenile status. Unfortunately, by

         22  the time we came around to see this young present,

         23  very brilliant individual, he had already attained

         24  18 years of age.  So, there are gaps, the

         25  information is not out there necessarily and as a

                                                            60

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  result some of these children age out before they

          3  reach the appropriate age.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  So, what you

          5  are telling me that I should really check with ACS

          6  to make sure that no child that is in foster care or

          7  under ACS care that is in this situation that is not

          8  taken care of.

          9                 MR. ANNOBIL:  Exactly so sir.

         10                 MS. KELLY:  Could I just add on that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Right.

         12                 MS. KELLY:  I was working on this

         13  issue in 1986 when Amnesty came around the last time

         14  and we actually had to sue the City of New York to

         15  get them to seek amnesty on behalf of the kids in

         16  foster care.  I served as class counsel at the time.

         17  That case was brought by the Legal Aid Society

         18  against the City of New York which then switch

         19  sides.  So, I think that you are certainly, Council

         20  Member Stewart, hitting in a very important issue

         21  that the last time around got overlooked when there

         22  was amnesty in this city and it was only as a result

         23  of a lawsuit that anyone really focused on the needs

         24  of foster kids.  At the time the federal government

         25  treated them as public charges and held against them
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          2  the fact that they had been abandoned by their

          3  parents and put into the City foster care system.

          4                 So, I think there are a bundle of

          5  issues as my colleague has said on that point and

          6  that the City Council could be a watchdog to make

          7  sure that this doesn't happen again if there is a

          8  program.  As was discussed, right now there is a

          9  remedy for people.  The children could go in under

         10  the Special Immigrant Status but I don't think

         11  there's been a thorough going review of all of those

         12  children that are under the Commissioner's care to

         13  make sure that every single one of them- they could

         14  be pulled out and have that brought on their behalf-

         15  has that brought on their behalf before they're 18.

         16                 I know the Legal Aid Society has

         17  wanted to do that but it's probably not enough money

         18  to get every single one of them.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Well, one of

         20  the things I would like to look at basically now

         21  that that has come to light I would want to know if

         22  we have any stats as to the children that are in

         23  foster care or even on the ACS jurisdiction we would

         24  like to know that.  But at this time I'd like to let

         25  you know that we have been joined by Council Member
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          2  Palma.  I don't know if you have any questions at

          3  this time.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  I do.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  Thank you Mr.

          7  Chair.  Mr. Annobil?  Are your clients only -- or

          8  does the agency that you supervise only represent

          9  immigrant children?

         10                 MR. ANNOBIL:  No.  No.  No.  That's

         11  just part of our work.  We represent people who

         12  have- immigrants with criminal convictions who are

         13  in removal proceedings.  We assist immigrants with

         14  applications in order to get green cards.  Also with

         15  citizenship.  Always making sure that if they have

         16  any criminal convictions, that those criminal

         17  convictions would not affect their ability to become

         18  citizens.

         19                 We also have the children aspect of

         20  this whole program and so that's just part of it.

         21  In fact, at this point not only do we represent

         22  children who are eligible for Special Immigrant

         23  Juvenile status, we're also in collaboration with

         24  the government lawyers and also with the immigration

         25  judges; spearheaded the establishment of the
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          2  juvenile docket.  The juvenile docket deals

          3  primarily with children who are unaccompanied; who

          4  either crossed the border and were arrested by

          5  border guards and have been put in proceedings.

          6                 Just walking into any of these court

          7  rooms will give you an idea what is at stake.  These

          8  children used to be part of the general docket

          9  involving adults.  We thought it was very inhumane

         10  to put children in that position.  So, the juvenile

         11  docket which is a special hearing session, has this

         12  whole feeling atmosphere where the judges recognize

         13  that we are dealing with children and the government

         14  also realizes that they have to be a little bit

         15  gentle when they are considering necessary relief.

         16  So, we run the whole gamut if you're talking about

         17  immigration in this City.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  And these

         19  children they're not placed on the foster care

         20  system or do they remain-

         21                 MR. ANNOBIL:  The way they are

         22  charged, they are basically under federal

         23  jurisdiction.  So, unless they have a parent or they

         24  have a relative- usually they are released to these

         25  parents or relatives.  Other than that they remain
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          2  in federal foster care and if they turn 18, then

          3  they go into the federal juvenile system.  So, it's

          4  always one of those situation where you always try

          5  to see what is best for the child.

          6                 Sometimes it's best that the child

          7  takes voluntary departure and goes back because

          8  maybe there's a parent back there or a grandmother

          9  who says "I want my child back".  And also, if

         10  there's nothing here for the child there are

         11  situations where the children may be able to adjust

         12  their status.  Not now but in the future.  In cases

         13  like that, the government sometimes allows us to

         14  administratively close the case until a point in

         15  time when they'll be able to adjust their status.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  Do you know

         17  the percentage of people that the immigration law

         18  units sees on a yearly basis?

         19                 MR. ANNOBIL:  Just to give you an

         20  idea.  We are the only service provider right now

         21  taking care of New York immigrants who are detained.

         22    Usually detained in facilities in New Jersey.  Our

         23  detainee hotline does something like 200 cases --

         24  has done the last two months serviced about 200

         25  detainees and their families.  Just in the two
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          2  months.  Add to that the juvenile docket where

          3  usually at a sit -- in every docket is like 35

          4  children.  Throw into that mix the number of clients

          5  we represent who have criminal convictions which

          6  usually we do something close to about 45

          7  representations a year.

          8                 Last year our Northern Manhattan

          9  Immigrant Defense Project which operates in

         10  Washington Heights in the Bronx for the first time

         11  in its first year saw 200 clients.  Our Community

         12  Based Immigrant Legal Services Project, which is in

         13  collaboration with three community- based

         14  organizations, as I said, 1800 immigrants last year.

         15    So, that's the kind of numbers we're dealing with.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  In terms of

         17  the $330,000 for immigration representation and then

         18  $150,000 for low- wage immigrant workers, where did

         19  that money come from?  Was that through the IOI?

         20                 MR. ANNOBIL:  I believe the 150 was

         21  for outreach work which was funded previously and

         22  there was an addition this year.  And then there

         23  was, I think, IOI money which came in late from

         24  which is the $180,000.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  Okay.  Thank
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          2  you Mr. Chair.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Council Member

          4  Mark Viverito.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO:

          6  What's the total budget of the immigration line

          7  unit?

          8                 MR. ANNOBIL:  It's difficult for me

          9  to say what the budget is.  It's difficult because

         10  we have to juggle the numbers.  I've talked about

         11  six signature projects.  The City Council funds two

         12  of those projects.  The others come from private

         13  funding.  A lot of times there's general funding

         14  that is used to subsidize the budget.  I can find

         15  out-

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO:  Is

         17  there any way we can get a rough estimate?  I'm just

         18  saying because you're saying you have seven

         19  attorneys and two paralegals.  You've identified an

         20  incredible case load that you're handling and,

         21  understandably, when you talk about legal aid in

         22  general we always know that there's not enough money

         23  unfortunately.  Is it a million?  Two million?  Just

         24  roughly if you have any idea of what-

         25                 MR. ANNOBIL:  Roughly I believe the
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          2  figure might be two to three million, I believe.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO:  Okay.

          4    Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I assume that

          6  NYLAG is the same kind of process you go through

          7  with all these different cases right?

          8                 MR. SCHULMAN:  Yes.  Primarily our

          9  intake comes from a relationship with 300 CBOs which

         10  utilize us for case consultation service.  So that a

         11  social worker from any of the CBOs can call up and

         12  say I have an immigrant that presents X, Y and Z

         13  situation, how do I address the situation?  It may

         14  be that we're able to give the social worker, him or

         15  her, information so that they're able to help the

         16  immigrant on their own.  Maybe they'll call back.

         17  Maybe they'll show us documentation.

         18                 In addition, oftentimes for attorneys

         19  the social worker can't provide the necessary

         20  assistance in which case our IPU, our Immigrant

         21  Protection Unit, would pick up the case.  Our

         22  Immigrant Protection Unit, the budget for our IPU

         23  which consists of seven full- time staff attorneys

         24  and two full- time paralegals, is approximately $1.1

         25  million that does not include the two full time
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          2  attorneys doing immigrant workers' right together

          3  with the one full- time paralegal or the Immigrant

          4  Project which represents immigrants in public

          5  benefits and housing and all those types of matters.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I would like to

          7  ask each of you this question.  We know, and I've

          8  asked it to the previous speakers.  We know that

          9  there's imminent change in terms of the law and we

         10  know what we are doing right now in terms of the

         11  kind of case loads that we have and what we're doing

         12  for immigrants. You know for a fact that there going

         13  to be a rush and there's going to be a great

         14  increase in terms of the workload.  How are you

         15  preparing for this type of change?

         16                 MS. KELLY:  I think that MFW we have

         17  a slightly different services delivery model because

         18  we're not doing the kind of volume on basic

         19  immigration services that my other colleagues are

         20  doing.  One of the things that we do is focus on

         21  particular gaps in the service delivery system and

         22  we would probably use our expertise looking

         23  specifically at the federal law to see if we think

         24  there are any particular problems that could be

         25  challenged that would result in a broader
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          2  interpretation for New York's immigrants.

          3                 We also would focus specifically on

          4  how it impacts the particular client groups such as

          5  immigrant workers that we work with.  I know like

          6  Catholic Charities, we have been telling people to

          7  begin gathering the materials that they need to pay

          8  their taxes and get tax identification numbers and

          9  all of that so that they can establish that they've

         10  been working here and contributing to the economy

         11  even though were undocumented at the time.

         12                 The possibility of us gearing up to

         13  suddenly become an organization that could be out

         14  collecting applications and helping people file, for

         15  some of the reason the Catholic Charities alluded to

         16  mainly that these cases are likely  to take a long

         17  period of time require a lot of staffing.  We

         18  couldn't do it without additional funding.  We just

         19  don't have the capacity to do it.

         20                 I think, right now, our attention

         21  would be focused on gaps in the federal law that we

         22  think might be challengeable in some sort of basis.

         23  The last time around during the Amnesty Program we

         24  also found there were restrictive regulations that

         25  came out that did not match the intent of Congress
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          2  and a number of lawsuits were filed around the City

          3  which succeeded in broadening the scope of that

          4  Amnesty Program.  That's an area where we have

          5  experience and we've got people with experience

          6  litigating those sorts of cases.  I think that

          7  that's where we would be looking and then focusing

          8  on the immigrant workers and the areas where we have

          9  depth right now.

         10                 MR. ANNOBIL:  For us at Legal Aid I

         11  believe that we've always had the experience, we've

         12  always done it when it's needed.  In 2001 when there

         13  was the 245(i) which was a law that was passed by

         14  Congress allowing immigrants who were residing here

         15  and couldn't adjust their status allowing them to

         16  pay a super fee and adjust, there was an influx not

         17  on the skill that we anticipated when this law

         18  passes.  We where then, we rose to the challenge.

         19                 September 11, 2001 after the World

         20  Trade Center bombings, we where there helping

         21  immigrants adjust status, take advantage of the laws

         22  that were passed.  At this point, thanks to the City

         23  Council's funding, our outreach work allows us to

         24  reach a lot of immigrants and as a result we are

         25  informing these immigrants about some of these

                                                            71

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  changes which may come about and advising them on

          3  what to do.

          4                 Our Community- Based Immigrant Legal

          5  Services Project, which also has three community-

          6  based organizations, also gives us the opportunity

          7  to train some of these counselors on the possible

          8  impact and what they should look up and what they

          9  should advise their clients about.  So, it's a work

         10  in progress at this point.  We are looking at what

         11  is out there; we are looking at what kind of law is

         12  going to be passed and we are monitoring the

         13  situation but we are in touch with the immigrants at

         14  the community level and I'm sure that if this law

         15  does pass, Legal Aid will be there to offer its

         16  services.

         17                 MR. SCHULMAN:  Thank you.

         18                 New York Legal Assistance Group has

         19  advertised that we're hiring two new attorneys

         20  because we believe that something is going to

         21  happen.  We don't know exactly what it's going to be

         22  but we know that it's going to generate an increase

         23  in the demand for our services.  We're also,

         24  obviously, counseling our current clients through

         25  our- we have attorneys who do weekly articles in

                                                            72

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  various foreign language publications in New York

          3  City as well as radio shows and cable shows.  We've

          4  been speaking about the various proposals which are

          5  pending from the draconian proposals to the better

          6  proposals, but we're already gearing up in terms of

          7  staffing.   We'll, obviously, at the same time be

          8  applying both to the City Council as well as the

          9  private funders hopefully to help us pay for this

         10  increased staffing.  We've always prided ourselves

         11  on our ability to be able to immediately respond to

         12  urgent legal needs.

         13                 At the time of 245(i) issue some

         14  years back, the New York State Bureau of Refugees

         15  and Immigrant Affairs contacted NYLAG and asked

         16  NYLAG to immediately gear up and to open up a

         17  variety of clinics throughout New York City which we

         18  did during the time period.  We staffed up and

         19  operated those clinics to help people be able to

         20  complete those necessary applications.

         21                 Similarly with 9/11, 72 hours after

         22  the devastation of 9/11, we set up a five person

         23  immigrant response team which set up tables downtown

         24  at the information sites in order to be able to

         25  assist low- income immigrants.  So, I'm confident
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          2  that we'll similarly hopefully rise to the occasion

          3  and, as we've done in the past, look for funding

          4  after we've geared- up to meet the needs.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I've a couple

          6  more questions but I think Council Member Palma.

          7  You have a question?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  I do.  Mr.

          9  Annobil, two quick questions.  You've mentioned your

         10  partnership with New York Immigration Coalition.  Is

         11  it possible that if you can submit to us a listing

         12  of all the other partners that you do work with?

         13                 MR. ANNOBIL:  Sure.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  My second

         15  question is, out of your budget is it strictly for

         16  Legal Aid and for your unit or does Legal Aid and

         17  your unit funnel some of that money to CBOs to allow

         18  them to address immigration issues?

         19                 MR. ANNOBIL:  Depending on the

         20  project, the Community- Based Immigrant Legal

         21  Services Project, some of the funding comes to us

         22  and part of the funding goes to community based

         23  organizations.  The funding for the Northern

         24  Manhattan Project, part of the fund comes to us.

         25  So, it all depends on what the funding is but
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          2  usually some of the funding goes down to the

          3  community- based organization.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  Okay.  Thank

          5  you.

          6                 MR. ANNOBIL:  You're welcome.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  Thank you Mr.

          8  Chair.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  The federal

         10  government in this proposal, the last budget- the

         11  2007 budget shows that they cut in the block grant.

         12  How is that going to affect you?

         13                 MR. ANNOBIL:  Legal aid?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Or anyone of

         15  you groups.

         16                 MR. ANNOBIL:  We don't-

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  You don't get

         18  any federal money.

         19                 MR. ANNOBIL:  We don't receive

         20  federal money just so that we can be able to assist

         21  immigrants irrespective of their immigration status.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.

         23                 MR. SCHULMAN:  We received two

         24  federal grants, both of which allow us to assist

         25  immigrants irrespective of their immigration status,
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          2  the both illegal and legal immigrants, presently.

          3  Obviously, that would have a tremendous negative

          4  impact upon our organization and we're working

          5  together in concert with other legal services

          6  organizations which receive these types of funds,

          7  and other CBOs which receive these types of funds,

          8  for other services to, you know, to try to prevent

          9  this from happening.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.  My

         11  last question, basically, is we spoke about ACS and

         12  the children under 18.  I'm wondering, if there are

         13  current laws to help such children, what can we do

         14  in the City Council?  It could be, is there a bill

         15  or law we can do?  What we can do to make sure that

         16  ACS at least or something be done to seek out any

         17  children that fall under that category that can get

         18  the help?  What can we do?

         19                 MR. SCHULMAN:  I think you can ask

         20  the question. I think you can call, my opinion is

         21  you can call in the ACS officials and ask them,

         22  point blank, you know, for an accounting of who is

         23  in the system that falls within these parameters and

         24  what is being done for them.  I think the first

         25  thing is recognition on the part of ACS that the
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          2  issue exists.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Then, after

          4  we've gotten that information, what's the next step?

          5    We just put it on the front burner or just, is

          6  there a bill or something we can do to at least

          7  force the issue?  That's what I'm asking, because I

          8  think they know that this is supposed to be done or

          9  something should be done.  But, it may not be their

         10  interest at this time.

         11                 We want to make sure that the child

         12  does not age out.  In other words, if a child is in

         13  the foster care or in some system, the child is 14,

         14  15, I don't want a child to age out and then there's

         15  no easy route for the child to be able to be taken

         16  care of.

         17                 MR. ANNOBIL:  I think the problem is

         18  that right now they don't have any system where

         19  they, the question is asked of the child of what his

         20  or her immigration status is.  They take the

         21  children in without asking that vital question.  I

         22  think that is the most important thing.  Asking that

         23  question brings up or makes someone aware of the

         24  fact that something has to be done, this child needs

         25  help, this child needs to be put in touch with a
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          2  legal services provider who knows what he or she is

          3  doing when it comes to special immigrant juvenile

          4  status.

          5                 MS. KELLY:  I agree with all of those

          6  suggestions. I think they're good ones.  I think

          7  Oversight Hearing on this particular topic could be

          8  helpful.  I think additional funding for advocates

          9  to bring these special immigrant cases would be

         10  helpful.

         11                 I do think it's a question of

         12  attention.  The last time around, it wasn't like

         13  anyone deliberately didn't want to help children.

         14  It's that they hadn't thought about it and weren't

         15  going to do anything about it because everyone felt

         16  like they were busy doing other things.  So, I think

         17  the, they didn't, you know, they didn't prioritize

         18  it, I guess, is what I would say.

         19                 I think the good thing is if no one's

         20  asking the questions at ACS, it means that they're

         21  treating children regardless of their immigration

         22  status, which is a good thing. But, because there's

         23  a time limited benefit that's running out at 18, it

         24  can have this effect of, that no one's looking at

         25  the immigration status, even though there's a remedy
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          2  for the children if they did look at it.

          3                 So, I think it, you know, you would

          4  want it be dealt with sensitively, but I think an

          5  Oversight Hearing that asks the questions would be

          6  very timely because we are coming up on what may be

          7  another reform period and I think you want, you want

          8  them to have it as a priority that they're going do

          9  what they can and they should be doing it right now

         10  anyway.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.  All

         12  right, I would like to thank you folks for your --

         13                 MS. KELLY:  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  -- Input and

         15  hopefully that we can continue this dialogue because

         16  there's some very, very interesting topics that we

         17  need to deal with to make sure that immigrants and

         18  even those folks that can get help get the required

         19  help that they need to get.  Thank you.

         20                 MR. SCHULMAN:  Thank you very much.

         21                 MS. KELLY:  Thank you for your

         22  support for legal services.

         23                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Thank you

         24  so much. We'd like to call up the next panel and

         25  that panel will consist of Anthony Ng from the
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          2  United Neighborhood Houses, Jose Davila from the New

          3  York Immigration Coalition and Elana Broitman from

          4  the UJA Federation of New York.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Please identify

          6  yourself and then you may begin.

          7                 MR. NG:  Hello.  My name is Anthony

          8  NG.  I am the Legislative Advocate at United

          9  Neighborhood Houses.  Do you want us all to?

         10                 MS. BROITMAN:  Sorry.  Elana Broitman

         11  and I'm Director of City Policy and Public Affairs

         12  at UJA Federation of New York.

         13                 MR. DAVILA:  Jose Davila, New York

         14  Immigration Coalition, Director of Education

         15  Advocacy.

         16                 MR. NG:  So, thank you Chair Stewart,

         17  Members of the City Council Immigration Committee

         18  for holding this Hearing. I'm going to start the

         19  testimony on this panel.

         20                 So, again, my name is Anthony Ng and

         21  I am the Legislative Advocate at United Neighborhood

         22  Houses of New York. UNH, we were founded in 1919 and

         23  we are the membership organization of 35 settlement

         24  houses and community centers located throughout New

         25  York City.  Our agencies provide a range of human
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          2  services from after school programs to day care

          3  programs to teen centers, arts programs, drama

          4  programs, meals on wheels, you name it, in most of

          5  our member agencies, the full range of human

          6  services.  Our members reach almost half a million

          7  New Yorkers through these services.

          8                 In talking about immigrant services,

          9  you know, we recognize that these human services

         10  that I just described, when accessed by immigrants,

         11  you know, require the need to having to live in a

         12  linguistically and culturally appropriate manner,

         13  meaning you have to speak the language, if needed,

         14  of the population that's being served and the like.

         15  So, in that sense, you know, they are reaching

         16  immigrants.  These key human services.

         17                 We also know that immigrants also

         18  access other services, such as English language

         19  classes and legal services, immigration legal

         20  services being the key one.

         21                 You know, attached to my testimony I

         22  wanted to point out that I wrote an article for the

         23  Gotham Gazette this month about immigrant services

         24  and their funding, which describes further these

         25  services, in particular, and the current funding
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          2  environment of how they're supported and a lot of

          3  that I know has been covered today.

          4                 Definitely we want to thank you,

          5  Chair Stewart, and the City Council for being such

          6  champions of the Immigrant Opportunities Initiative,

          7  which is a really vital piece of funding for legal

          8  services and English language classes.  We know last

          9  year $9.1 million was put in the budget and this

         10  almost doubled the number of IOI groups to about

         11  130.  In our network, we have about nine

         12  organizations that receive IOI funding to support

         13  their work in English classes and legal services,

         14  seven groups get the IOI money for English classes

         15  and we have two groups that get the money for legal

         16  services.

         17                 So, as you all know, you know, we are

         18  heading into the, the budget season for the fiscal

         19  year 2007 budget and we are pleased to see that in

         20  the City Council response, the Immigrant

         21  Opportunities Initiative was identified at $9.25

         22  million and we support the full restoration of IOI

         23  and support this amount moving forward.

         24                 In moving forward, what we also urge

         25  is that there's a timely process to distribute these
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          2  funds.  Again, I'm sure, as you may know, the City

          3  did not identify or let groups that got IOI funding

          4  in previous years, they were not notified that they

          5  would be getting funding again until November of

          6  2005.

          7                 Then, because there was such an

          8  increase in the monies, there were new groups that

          9  were supposed to get the funding too.  We understand

         10  that the City didn't identify, didn't notify those

         11  groups until January or February of 2006.  That,

         12  essentially, this delay in awards or notification of

         13  awards, at least, you know, has an impact on how the

         14  services are delivered, when the English classes can

         15  start, when the legal services can begin.

         16                 You know, public funding is so

         17  crucial for community- based organizations that can

         18  deliver these services at the community- based level

         19  to reach those residents that need them.  So, it's

         20  key that we have adequate and timely funding.

         21                 So, again, we thank you Chair Stewart

         22  and the Members of the City Council for your strong

         23  support on the Immigrant Opportunities Initiative

         24  and we look forward to working with you to ensure

         25  that there's $9.25 million in the adopted budget.
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          2  Thank you.

          3                 MS. BROITMAN:  Chairman Stewart,

          4  Council Members, thank you for allowing me to make a

          5  presentation to you today.  I represent UJA

          6  Federation, as I said, which helps to serve a broad

          7  spectrum of New Yorkers throughout the five boroughs

          8  by supporting a network of over 100 social service

          9  agencies.  I'll skip over the description of UJA,

         10  because I know you've heard it from me before and go

         11  right into my more relevant testimony.

         12                 We're proud that our network of

         13  agencies serves such a myriad of human service needs

         14  and, in particular, a number of immigrant programs

         15  are provided.  Some of our agencies, such as The New

         16  York Association of, for New Americans or NYANA, was

         17  created specifically to meet the rising demand

         18  caused by increased immigrant and refugee flow and,

         19  today, the City- wide agency provides ESOL and legal

         20  services and works with special populations, such as

         21  victims of trafficking, most of whom are immigrants.

         22    As you may know, some of that federal funding has

         23  been cut entirely.

         24                 We also have City- wide agencies such

         25  as NYLAG that spoke, that testified here just a
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          2  minute ago, and NYLAG partners with local CBOs

          3  around the City to meet the demands of local

          4  populations in a way that makes, best makes sense to

          5  those populations in the communities.

          6                 Some of our community groups, like a

          7  number in Brooklyn, such as the JCC of Greater Coney

          8  Island, Shorefront Y or Central Queens Y provide

          9  community- based services, including ESOL,

         10  vocational training about which I testified a couple

         11  of weeks ago and work with immigrant women and

         12  youth.  I mention these specifically because they

         13  were some of our agencies receiving IOI funding this

         14  year.

         15                 We want to express our appreciation

         16  for securing the large IOI funds this past year, as

         17  it has gone to fund very important work.  Yet, we,

         18  like others, have agencies that did not receive IOI

         19  funding, though they provide very needed services to

         20  many varied communities, from Brooklyn to the Bronx,

         21  and we hope in the future years, the City provides

         22  more resources to serve the growing needs of

         23  immigrants.

         24                 As you know, meeting the increasing

         25  needs of a growing number of foreign- borne New
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          2  Yorkers without increased resources is a challenge

          3  that all service providers face. Federal funding,

          4  primarily the Community Services Block Grant, is at

          5  risk of significant decrease.  Other federal funds,

          6  such as WIA, which also goes to fund immigrant

          7  services are likewise in question from year to year.

          8    Your leadership in funding IOI was a clear

          9  recognition of this reality and the $9.25 million

         10  that you had put into the City Council response

         11  practically doubles, as Anthony had said, the

         12  funding that's available as federal and state

         13  governments combined that came to the City for

         14  immigrant services this year totals approximately 11

         15  million.

         16                 Clearly, without IOI, the City's

         17  immigrants and refugees would be left without about

         18  half the services that they need to better integrate

         19  into the City' economic and social life. Therefore,

         20  we very much hope that you and the Council will

         21  restore the full amount of IOI for fiscal year 2007.

         22                 While we very much appreciated that

         23  such a significant amount was available this year

         24  for immigrant services, I'm sure you've heard of the

         25  problems that IOI recipients had in actually

                                                            86

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  receiving the funding.  I know of certain groups

          3  that still do not have a contract, others that may

          4  have a registered contract, but still have not

          5  received full payment.  As you can appreciate, the

          6  situation is incredibly difficult for non- profits,

          7  whose generally low budgets are stretched thin to

          8  meet all the demands of their clients.

          9                 Some groups have been able to begin

         10  services prior to receiving payment by subsidizing

         11  them from other parts of their budget, but this is

         12  an incredible strain on them.  Others have, were not

         13  in a position to do so and I wonder whether they

         14  will be able to spend all of their allotted funding

         15  when they receive it so close to the end of the

         16  fiscal year.  Thus, our request to the Council is to

         17  restore the full IOI funding for fiscal year  '07

         18  and to send appropriate direction to DYCD shortly

         19  after doing so, and then to work with the Department

         20  to ensure that contracts are processed within a

         21  period of no more than a couple of months.

         22                 I also wanted to mention something

         23  that you won't see in my written testimony, but

         24  because you had been asking the question, in terms

         25  of federal funding.  We are, we share the concern
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          2  that federal funding is, is going to be very low if,

          3  perhaps even unavailable in certain cases this year

          4  and it goes to fund not just immigrant services but,

          5  as you know, community services around your district

          6  and others.

          7                 What we have been doing, together

          8  with the other groups at this table, is working with

          9  the Administration, actually, to try to do increased

         10  advocacy in Washington.  UJA Federation specifically

         11  does a lot of advocacy through our national office,

         12  as well as through our various agencies in New York

         13  and their constituents.  We generate letters and we

         14  generate calls and meetings with legislators.  We

         15  bring our donor groups to Washington.

         16                 This week, in fact, I'm taking the

         17  third group this spring, the season we're in, to go

         18  talk to not just New York, the New York delegation,

         19  but also to other electeds on the appropriate

         20  committees and, to, to, in the hope of making them

         21  understand the importance of this, of this funding,

         22  not just to New York, but also to the states that

         23  they're from.  Thank you.

         24                 MR. DAVILA:  Good afternoon Chairman

         25  Stewart and Members of the City Council Immigration
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          2  Committee.  Thank you for this opportunity to

          3  testify at this very important Hearing on the state

          4  of immigrant services in New York City.

          5                 My name is Jose Davila and I am the

          6  Director of Education Advocacy for the New York

          7  Immigration Coalition, an umbrella policy and

          8  advocacy organization for over 150 member groups

          9  that work with newcomers to our country, many of

         10  whom receive Immigration Opportunities Initiative

         11  funding.

         12                 I just want to add that this a very

         13  timely Hearing with all the attention being paid to

         14  immigration reform and you make a very important

         15  point, Chairman, that if and when immigration reform

         16  does get passed, there will be a major need for city

         17  and state to beef up services for community groups

         18  and government agencies to provide necessary

         19  services for immigrant families.

         20                 I would like to first thank Chairman

         21  Stewart and the Immigration Committee for their

         22  leadership on the Immigrant Opportunities

         23  Initiative.  Last year, the IOI was included in the

         24  final City budget at $9.1 million, making it the

         25  largest enhancement in history for immigrant
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          2  services.  However, year after year, Mayor Bloomberg

          3  fails to include the IOI in his budget.  As a

          4  result, every year it falls to the City Council to

          5  restore this funding.

          6                 Since Mayor Bloomberg took office in

          7  2002, the IOI continues to be the only source of

          8  City lax levy funding for immigrant services.  In

          9  fiscal year 2006, the IOI was funded at $9.1

         10  million, but because the funds were not allocated

         11  and distributed in a timely manner, immigrant

         12  community- based organizations have had to

         13  terminate, delay or reduce their programs and

         14  services.  We thank the City Council for making IOI

         15  a priority in this year's budget response and for

         16  committing to fully restore current funding at $9.25

         17  million for fiscal year '07.

         18                 The IOI supports the following

         19  critical services that New York's immigrant

         20  communities vitally needs:

         21                 English language and service classes.

         22    One in four adult New Yorkers do not speak English

         23  well.  The Department of City Planning estimates

         24  that in New York City, more than 1.5 million adults

         25  are not proficient in English.  As New York City's
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          2  population becomes more diverse, knowledge of

          3  English is increasingly important in every facet of

          4  life.

          5                 Immigrants live in every area of the

          6  City, filling important work force needs in key

          7  sectors of the City's economy. Mastering the English

          8  language not only enables immigrants to become

          9  citizens, but also enables them to access quality

         10  health care, increase their safety at the work

         11  place, move from low skilled jobs to higher- skilled

         12  and higher paying jobs, and play an active role in

         13  their children's education.

         14                 Many immigrants' desire to learn

         15  English is stifled by the lack of opportunities to

         16  do so.  Insufficient funding and long waiting lists

         17  for ESL classes prevent immigrants from learning

         18  English and fully participating in our society.  Of

         19  course, English language and civics instruction is

         20  vital to helping immigrants gains U.S. Citizenship.

         21  Planned changes to the naturalization exam, such as

         22  more civics questions, a new reading comprehensive,

         23  comprehension section and longer writing and reading

         24  tasks, however, will only make it harder to pass the

         25  exam.  Without IOI funding, citizenship will be out
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          2  of reach for much of the immigrant population in New

          3  York.

          4                 Immigration Legal Services.

          5  Immigrants in New York City desperately need

          6  affordable and trustworthy immigrant legal services.

          7    Immigrants frequently are the victims of scam

          8  artists or other self- styled experts who, in

          9  exchange for huge sums of money, promise work

         10  permits and green cards to anyone, regardless of

         11  whether the person is actually eligible.  Too often,

         12  immigrants end up facing deportation as a result of

         13  these services.

         14                 The City can help address this

         15  situation by funding competent and reputable non-

         16  profit immigration service providers located

         17  throughout the five boroughs.  Funding also can

         18  support community education and outreach, so that

         19  basic legal information is available not only to

         20  individuals actively seeking help, but to the

         21  broader community as well.  Yet, despite the large

         22  growth in the City's immigrant population and the

         23  crushing need for immigrant- related legal

         24  assistance, Mayor Bloomberg has not supported

         25  expanded funding for immigration- related legal
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          2  services.

          3                 I also want to add that at recent

          4  rallies, on May first and other times, we've seen

          5  people already begin to hand out flyers that say,

          6  sign up for the worker program, sign up for this,

          7  sign up for that, when these programs actually

          8  aren't in existence yet.  So, we're already seeing

          9  people trying to take advantage, you know, or at

         10  least giving out false information about what's out

         11  there for help.  So, these funding for immigration

         12  legal services will be very much needed in the

         13  coming months and years.

         14                 Immigrant Workers Legal Services.

         15  Immigrant workers continue to be vulnerable to

         16  exploitation, discrimination and wage- and- hour

         17  violation in the work place.  Unscrupulous employers

         18  frequently violate overtime, minimum wage, workers'

         19  compensation, and anti- discrimination laws, knowing

         20  that immigrant workers are generally reluctant to

         21  seek justice out of fear of retaliation and

         22  deportation.

         23                 Despite New York's recent minimum

         24  wage increase to $6.75 an hour, too many employers

         25  do not know the new rates or simply refuse to pay
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          2  immigrants accordingly.  Free and low cost legal

          3  services can help put an end to these, these abuses,

          4  by enabling workers to file wage- and- hour

          5  complaints, report health and safety violations and

          6  access workers' compensation benefits.

          7                 The City can play a unique role in

          8  assuring that immigrants have access to legal

          9  services.  After a successful pilot year, the City

         10  Council funded the Immigrant Worker Legal Services

         11  component for the IOI for a second year.  This

         12  program supports training and technical assistance

         13  for community- based organizations that provide

         14  legal services to low wage workers. As a result of

         15  this program, one group recovered $70,000 in back

         16  pay for an immigrant worker after 12 years of

         17  serious wage violations.

         18                 All told, the program has allowed

         19  hundreds of immigrant workers who were unlawfully

         20  deprived of wages, overtime pay and other

         21  employment- related benefits, to receive legal

         22  assistance and representation.  Funding for this

         23  critical program is set to expire at the end of FY

         24   '06 and should be extended.

         25                 Finally, in conclusion, immigrant
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          2  communities are calling on Mayor Bloomberg and the

          3  City Council to restore the IOI at $9.25 million and

          4  guarantee that the funds will be dispersed during

          5  the first quarter of the new fiscal year.

          6                 Thank you for your time and

          7  consideration.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Well, to allay

          9  your fears, we are working closely with DYCD to make

         10  sure that we don't have a repeat of what happened at

         11  last fiscal year because of the fact that we would

         12  have had the information.  We're going to set up a

         13  new criteria, so that we have all the information of

         14  all the CBOs that are going to be awarded this time

         15  around.

         16                 Also, we would be in a better

         17  position to at least evaluate what has been done in

         18  the past.  One of the problems that we've had is

         19  that we were not too sure what the federal

         20  government was doing.  So, for the literacy program

         21  that there was, DYCD wanted to be sure that we

         22  didn't have to divert money from the IOI money to

         23  literacy.

         24                 The other thing that I wanted you to

         25  know is that we will be communicating better with
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          2  all the CBOs to make sure that they understand what

          3  they are supposed to provide, what they are supposed

          4  to do.

          5                 In the past, some of the groups did

          6  not know what they were supposed to provide.  So,

          7  they were providing services that may not fit the

          8  category in which DYCD had.  But, now, we will be

          9  trying to work it out to make sure that they get the

         10  information early, very early, within one month

         11  after the budget is passed and at least their

         12  information is turned into DYCD.

         13                 A lot of those groups, as a matter of

         14  fact, sometimes even the phone number we didn't

         15  have, or even the address, the proper address we

         16  didn't have, and reaching the contact person we

         17  didn't have.  So, that is based on the fact that we

         18  communicated with the Council Members who provided

         19  the information and they didn't provide the full

         20  information to some of these groups.

         21                 I want to thank you for your

         22  testimony, but I want to find out from everyone

         23  who's left, I wanted to find out if there is any way

         24  that you feel that we can improve the distribution

         25  of the IOI funding?  Any way you feel it can enhance
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          2  the process, you can let me know and we will try to

          3  incorporate that into our discussion with DYCD.

          4                 MS. BROITMAN:  I'll start.  The most

          5  important thing, I think, on all of our minds is

          6  that the money get out efficiently to the groups

          7  that do get it, so they could start providing

          8  services right away.  If the Council should choose

          9  to send it to the same groups, that may be the most

         10  efficient process.  It may also give you, this

         11  coming year, to really evaluate what the effect was

         12  of the first year of this full, large IOI funding,

         13  so that you can make decisions about maybe

         14  redistribution, if need be.

         15                 MR. NG:  Similarly, you know, we

         16  believe that the most important thing is that the

         17  funding is distributed in a timely manner.  You

         18  know, I will second what Elana just said.  If the

         19  Council believes that awarding the funding to the

         20  same groups can help to do that, we would be

         21  supportive of that.  But, you know, it's, you know,

         22  that's, the key is that the funding is distributed

         23  in a timely manner.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  One of the

         25  things that I would like to see happen is the, for
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          2  us to have a proper directory and I thought the

          3  immigration Coalition or some of these groups would

          4  have been able to put that together, a proper

          5  directory as to who is who and providing what type

          6  of service and give some sort of a guide as to how

          7  many folks they have been providing services to and

          8  the type of service.

          9                 What we had, the problem we had in

         10  the past was because most of these groups were new.

         11  Now that the groups are not considered new anymore,

         12  we want to know who is providing what type of

         13  service and to whom are they providing these

         14  services, in terms of how many people they have

         15  served, and so on.

         16                 You will find that we have folks who

         17  say that they provide legal and it's not quite

         18  legal.  It might have been just filling out a form

         19  for immigration.  We would want to know that. We

         20  want to know specifically, because we want to be

         21  able to divert the funds to the correct areas and

         22  that's the problem that DYCD had, that they were not

         23  too sure what type of services were being provided.

         24                 When we get that information, this

         25  time around, I think we will be able to at least
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          2  make sure that it's done in an expeditious way and

          3  make sure that folks who are providing services get

          4  the funding for that type of service that they

          5  provide.

          6                 MR. DAVILA:  I think that that makes

          7  a lot of sense.  The New York Immigration Coalition,

          8  we have a decent sense of our member groups and what

          9  services they offer and we have internal lists and

         10  so forth that we distribute to staff for referrals.

         11  I think it's, in some way, though, it would be a

         12  major undertaking for us to be able to produce a

         13  public, sort of directory of all our members or all

         14  the groups in the City able to serve immigrants.

         15                 Saying that, though, I think that if

         16  we had the resources, we'd be certainly interested

         17  in doing that.  I don't, there have been

         18  conversations in the past about producing some sort

         19  of guide like that, the New York Times, as some, at

         20  one point, did a recent guide as well.  But, I think

         21  that in some ways it is a heavy lift for us to be

         22  able to both do the advocacy work and the community

         23  education work and then also be able to sort of put

         24  out a guide of that nature.

         25                 So, I think that resources for that
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          2  would be great.  But, I think that your efforts to

          3  do that with DYCD, for the time being, I think are

          4  very important.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Right, the

          6  other thing, too, is you do referrals, a number of

          7  these groups do referrals and I would like to know

          8  who they do the referrals to and on what basis and

          9  that's the point of trying to get that information.

         10                 Having said that, there no further

         11  questions for you, I want to thank you for your

         12  testimony.  I hope that we can keep this dialogue

         13  and I'm sure that you'll be back, because as soon as

         14  this new bill in Congress has passed with the new

         15  law, I think we will be evaluating how much, what we

         16  have to do and what type of resources we need to

         17  place in to accommodate the influx of the immigrants

         18  coming for services. Thank you.

         19                 MR. NG:  Thank you.

         20                 MS. BROITMAN:  Thank you.

         21                 MR. AVILA:  Thank you.

         22                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Hi.  Our final

         23  panel will be Joyce Brown, Marianne Yang and Erin

         24  Michelson.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Please just
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          2  identify yourself and then you may begin.  I just

          3  want to let you know that even though some of the

          4  Members are not here, we do evaluate and appreciate

          5  your testimony and we will be going over a lot of

          6  things that are being said here and it's being

          7  recorded.  I want you to know that.  Every testimony

          8  is being recorded and it's part of the record.  So,

          9  you may begin.

         10                 MS. BROWN:  Good afternoon Councilman

         11  Stewart.  My name is Joyce Brown.  I see you

         12  redecorated the room, so now you don't, one doesn't

         13  know if we're on or not.  But, I'm basically a

         14  public advocate.  I have a television series on

         15  Manhattan Neighborhood Network, which used to be

         16  focused on housing, housing issues within the City

         17  and now it's focused on health care.  I've had

         18  trouble because both of these areas are important to

         19  immigrants, as well as other New York City personnel

         20  and citizens.

         21                 I have had problems with trying to

         22  get someone to translate into basically Spanish.  No

         23  one seems to be able to translate Spanish in New

         24  York City, from English to Spanish, as well as

         25  Chinese, which would be Mandarin or Cantonese.
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          2  Especially, last week, I went to Chinatown to 62

          3  Mott Street, which is the Benevolent Society, no one

          4  spoke English there. Finally, after much trying, one

          5  person said they spoke English and they couldn't

          6  help me.  But, what I am finding out is the

          7  inwardness of the various, some populations.  They

          8  only look inward.  They don't offer help to anyone

          9  not in their little click or society.

         10                 I even tried Queens College of Law,

         11  they said they only help people who have, are

         12  Chinese and have law problems.  As well as an

         13  agency, the Chinese Development Corporation, which

         14  is funded through public funds, they said no, we

         15  have employees, they do not translate.

         16                 Since my program is funded by me

         17  through Social Security and my savings and I was

         18  able to get a not, to form a not- for- profit

         19  organization, which I put the Social Security money

         20  and my savings, I cannot afford a translator, which

         21  are very expensive.  So, I was wondering is there

         22  some way in which basically the Chinese population

         23  could offer some translation services and since

         24  they've been here for centuries, someone must spoke

         25  English and Spanish, and Mandarin or Chinese.  Also,
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          2  Spanish populations.

          3                 Now, my program this week will be on

          4  infections, which there was, what is infections.  I

          5  had someone from Dr. Zucker in charge of

          6  immunizations speak about infections and also there

          7  is reason for how to prevent infections, the cause

          8  of infections.  As you know, you're a doctor,

          9  transmissions, et cetera, and I felt that this is

         10  needed for new populations coming into the City.

         11  Since there was a notice on television about the

         12  prevalence of Hepatitis in the Chinese community,

         13  that might be helpful to them.

         14                 So, that is one of the problems.

         15  That's my personal problems.  But, as a nurse, I

         16  worked, I was an instructor with ITC in Brooklyn.

         17  We did clinical work, and I noticed there was a high

         18  population of Chinese patients and there was no

         19  translators, which is a patient's right to have

         20  someone who could translate to them, so they

         21  understand. I understand, yes it is, that's going to

         22  be my next health program, about patients' rights

         23  and responsibility.

         24                 There's also a need for nursing

         25  staff.  I'm not saying doctors, because they can't
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          2  take the time out, other disciplines do not know the

          3  needs of patients like the nursing staff would know.

          4    So, with this increase in population and

          5  immigration, it might be good to encourage people

          6  from various ethnic groups to go into the nursing

          7  field and work in health related facilities.  That's

          8  it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Thank you.

         10  Next please.

         11                 MS. MICHELSON:  Hi.  Good afternoon.

         12  My name is Erin Michelson and I am Director of

         13  National Expansion for Upwardly Global.  Upwardly

         14  Global is a 501(c)3 entrepreneurial non- profit.  We

         15  are currently expanding into New York City. We'll be

         16  opening our first office here on June 5th and are

         17  out there recruiting for eight employees.  So, I

         18  wanted to take this opportunity to introduce

         19  ourselves to the New York City Council.

         20                 Our mission is to increase economic

         21  opportunities for unemployed and underemployed

         22  refugees, asylee and immigrant professionals to

         23  promote meaningful immigration inclusion in the

         24  labor market.  We offer two types of programs.  The

         25  first are our job seeker programs, where we help
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          2  unemployed and underemployed refugees find growth

          3  positions that match their education, skills and

          4  experience.

          5                 Services include individualized

          6  career placement, job service skills workshops and

          7  mentor in the same career field, mock interview

          8  practice sessions and assistance with foreign degree

          9  credential evaluation and re- licensing.  We have

         10  more than a hundred plus active volunteers currently

         11  in our offices, serving as mentors, advisors and

         12  workshop trainers.

         13                 The job seekers that we currently

         14  work with are from 55 different countries, 100

         15  percent from the developing world.  50 percent,

         16  excuse me, 50 percent are refugees who fled their

         17  homelands due to persecution.  100 percent have BAs

         18  and 50 percent have master's degrees and 60 percent

         19  are women.  The results are that we see an average

         20  increase of nearly $16,000.00 in annual salary for

         21  the immigrant professionals that we've served

         22  already.

         23                 Our graduates re- establish

         24  themselves in their chosen vocation, leading to

         25  higher self- esteem and productive members of the
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          2  community.  We've also served a total of 300 job

          3  seekers so far, that we think within the next three

          4  years in New York City alone, we're going to serve

          5  3,500 job seekers.

          6                 The second program we have is our

          7  employer network, which offers companies access to

          8  skilled professionals and educational services to

          9  help recruit diverse candidates and lower the cost

         10  per hire.  Services include pre- screened

         11  candidates, educational seminars, volunteer

         12  opportunities for employees and on- line resume,

         13  resume database and recruiting tools.  We're

         14  currently working with corporate members such as

         15  Merrill Lynch, Bank of America, Bearing Point

         16  (phonetic), Wells Fargo, Cisco, Google and Genetech

         17  and many others.  We are currently out there talking

         18  to many, many members of the corporate community

         19  here in New York.

         20                 I wanted to, again, just mention that

         21  in New York City, our immigrant professionals who

         22  are underemployed or underemployed is what we

         23  categorize in making $10.00 an hour or less and we

         24  hope to take them to full- time, benefitted

         25  employment in their career fields at an average
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          2  starting salary of $37,000.00.

          3                 We currently have a New York

          4  Expansion Fund that we are working on to raise

          5  $250,000.00.  Our donors so far include several

          6  private foundations, as well as individual

          7  donations.

          8                 So, we hope, as I said, to just give

          9  you an introduction of our organization and to ask

         10  your support and referrals as we continue to grow

         11  here in the City.  Thank you.

         12                 MS. YANG:  Good afternoon.  My name

         13  is Marianne Yang and I'm the Director of the

         14  Immigrant Defense Project of the New York State

         15  Defenders Association.  So, I, like other people who

         16  have spoken before me today, would like to speak

         17  about the continued and probably increased need for

         18  legal services provided to immigrants in New York

         19  City.

         20                 Many people have already talked about

         21  pending possible legislation in D.C.  I think

         22  whatever legislation might come out of D.C. This

         23  year, if it includes a legalization component,

         24  obviously will require a lot of advocates to

         25  understand what those laws are and really to get out

                                                            107

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  the word of the benefits that might be there.  But

          3  also, I think, equally important, the risks there

          4  might be for some people to come forward, thinking

          5  that they might be eligible, but, in fact, are not.

          6                 Most recently, I think there's even

          7  been discussion that there might be an amendment to

          8  bar legalization to any undocumented immigrant who

          9  might have had a misdemeanor in their past, no

         10  matter how long ago.  I can tell you without looking

         11  at that amendment, but from my expertise in the

         12  area, that I'll talk to you about today, the work of

         13  my project, there's some real concern depending on

         14  what that says, whether that could even bar the

         15  opportunities for legalization for countless New

         16  York City residents who might have offenses as low

         17  as traffic violations.  People are going to have to

         18  know what those risks are before going forward, or

         19  else they might be risking really jeopardizing their

         20  chances to remain in this country.

         21                 Aside from the legalization

         22  components of the legislation, though less talked

         23  about aspects of the proposed legislation in D.C.,

         24  are interior enforcement provisions.  A lot of

         25  people talk about securing the border, anti-
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          2  terrorism measures to keep people out.  But, what is

          3  equally important is that there are provisions in

          4  the federal proposed legislation that we believe

          5  would cause a dramatic change in the way immigrants

          6  have the ability or the right to remain in this

          7  country, even as lawful permanent residents.

          8                 This is what I'd like to talk about

          9  today.  As a result of punitive immigration laws

         10  that Jojo Annobil from the Legal Aid Society has

         11  mentioned, hundreds of thousands of lawful permanent

         12  residents and others are at risk of deportation and

         13  detention based on any, virtually any, interaction

         14  with the criminal justice system.

         15                 We have, here in New York City, a

         16  good number of very good legal service providers who

         17  can do a lot of the up front work, assuming funding

         18  is providing, et cetera, for allowing legalization

         19  to happen for some people under the laws, if they

         20  are passed.

         21                 What there is a great dearth of in

         22  this City is expertise on the ways that the

         23  immigration laws intersect with the criminal justice

         24  system.  It's actually something that I think

         25  there's very little expertise on in the entire
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          2  country.  So that, people who have had any

          3  interaction with the criminal justice system don't

          4  have enough organizations to go to for that

          5  expertise when they're thinking of traveling outside

          6  the country, when they're thinking of applying for

          7  citizenship, when they're thinking of getting a

          8  green card.

          9                 So, I'd like to talk to you today a

         10  little bit about my project, the Immigrant Defense

         11  Project, IDP.  This is the first time, despite our

         12  serving New York City immigrant residents for about

         13  ten years now.  It is the first time we will be

         14  seeking funding to provide, to continue doing our

         15  work, from the City Council, whether through the

         16  Immigrant Opportunities Initiative or otherwise.

         17                 So, IDP provides legal support

         18  guidance and trainings on criminal and immigration

         19  law for immigrants, immigration advocates, criminal

         20  defense lawyers and criminal justice advocates

         21  confronting the laws that place hundreds of

         22  thousands at risk of mandatory detention and

         23  deportation based on their interactions with the

         24  criminal justice system.

         25                 Founded in 1997, we have been
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          2  defending the rights of immigrants facing detention

          3  or subsequent deportation and we promote long- term

          4  transformation of both the criminal justice systems

          5  and the immigration deportation system, so that

          6  people wouldn't be exposed to permanent exile from

          7  their homes and families here in the United States.

          8                 So, we do that in a number of ways.

          9  One of our main ways is that we are a legal resource

         10  and training center, where we enhance the quality of

         11  other advocates, both at the criminal justice system

         12  and the deportation defense stages by conducting

         13  frequent training of others lawyers, producing and

         14  distributing legal resources.  For example,

         15  representing non citizen criminal defendants in New

         16  York State.

         17                 That's our, our manual, which is now

         18  in the third edition.  We hope that with potential

         19  funding we would have a fourth edition out this

         20  year.  This is what we believe every single criminal

         21  defense attorney and criminal justice advocate in

         22  New York State, including New York City, should

         23  have, given the numbers of non- citizens here in,

         24  here in New York.

         25                 We also serve as ongoing consultants
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          2  to advocates and to immigrants and their families

          3  who call us or otherwise contact us.  Basically, in

          4  this way, we strive to maximize immigrants'

          5  understanding and fair notice of the immigration

          6  consequences of criminal charges brought against

          7  them.

          8                 This Committee passed a Resolution in

          9  recent years in support of a change in the New York

         10  State Legislature, to require every single criminal

         11  court to give a fair warning to non- citizens of the

         12  potential immigration consequences before they

         13  decide to take a plea of guilty.  We commend this

         14  Committee for the support of this important issue.

         15                 Unfortunately, the New York State

         16  Legislature has not yet passed such a reform to

         17  require such an important and fair warning.  But, in

         18  other ways, the IDP seeks to fill the void where, in

         19  the criminal justice system phase, this warning or

         20  the analysis isn't yet provided by those in the

         21  criminal justice system.

         22                 We run a hotline.  Due to lack of

         23  resources, that hotline is from Tuesday, Tuesdays

         24  and Thursdays, 1:30 to 4:30 p.m.  In 2005 alone,

         25  we've received more than 1,600 requests for
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          2  assistance from advocates and immigrants seeking

          3  help.  Many of them in desperate, kind of emergency

          4  situations, after their families were picked up or

          5  arrested or where they thought they were coming home

          6  after a criminal case was over, but, in fact, ended

          7  up in remote detention facilities outside New York

          8  State.

          9                 The sad fact of the matter is that

         10  because of limited resources, basically everywhere,

         11  and as Jojo Annobil said, the, the lack of counsel

         12  given to you or no right to counsel assigned to you,

         13  in immigration proceedings, if can't afford one,

         14  upwards of 90 percent of immigrants in deportation

         15  proceedings go unrepresented, without legal counsel.

         16                 It is very critical, therefore, for

         17  them and their family members, where they can't

         18  afford counsel and where they don't get free legal

         19  counsel to represent them, to understand how to

         20  defend by themselves against continued detention or

         21  being exiled from their families and homes, IDP

         22  provides a lot of that up front information,

         23  including the initial analysis and, of course, where

         24  appropriate, we refer people on to legal

         25  representatives who might be able to help them.
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          2                 Finally, IDP provides a lot of

          3  support for community advocacy, understanding that

          4  sometimes the first offense will be at the very

          5  local level with community- based organizations

          6  that, themselves, might not have lawyers on staff.

          7  We work closely with community- based networks like

          8  Families for Freedom, which is also Brooklyn- based

          9  and is a multi- racial and multi- ethnic group of

         10  family members of people facing deportation.

         11                 Together with them, we've been

         12  training hundreds of community- based advocates and

         13  others with a model training called Deportation 101,

         14  so that everybody can understand where they are in a

         15  position to help immigrants, how to use legal tools

         16  and other means to defend the rights of their

         17  immigrant community members.

         18                 So, we urge the Council and this

         19  Committee to continue support for the Immigrant

         20  Opportunities Initiative at the level that is

         21  currently on the table, but also to consider

         22  remembering that there are some organizations that

         23  provide a critical need, like IDP, where there's an

         24  expertise that's lacking and where, unfortunately,

         25  historically there are very few alternative
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          2  resources for these organizations to go to, very few

          3  organizations.  Well, organizations will find it

          4  very difficult to find alternative funding as soon

          5  as the word criminal is placed somewhere in any sort

          6  of application.

          7                 I think it's very important for us to

          8  understand that larger picture of immigrants charged

          9  with, not convicted of crimes.  Also, the extensive

         10  network of family members and communities that's

         11  impacted as soon as there's that intersection with

         12  criminal justice.  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Thank you.  I

         14  want to go back to ask a couple of questions.  I

         15  just want to make clarity to Ms. Brown, I forgot

         16  your name, Miss?

         17                 MS. BROWN:  Brown?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Ms. Brown, in

         19  terms of getting translators, we, in the medical, we

         20  have passed a bill, a translation bill, that I think

         21  you might be able to get some help from there if you

         22  need to translate your medical, whatever medical

         23  stories that you're doing.

         24                 You might be able to get help if you,

         25  maybe you can check with 3- 1- 1 and ask the
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          2  question.  The bill was passed with the City in

          3  terms of the agency and facilities when they're

          4  treating anyone, that treatment has to be

          5  translated.  So, they have now developing staff and

          6  all of that to do translations. So, you might be

          7  able to get some help there if you're having

          8  problems.

          9                 Apart from that, if you call 3- 1- 1,

         10  they should be able to refer you to those agencies

         11  or groups that really  --

         12                 MS. BROWN:  I've tried, I'll try them

         13  again --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Try them

         15  because  --

         16                 MS. BROWN:  -- I've called them.

         17  They weren't able to and I'm aware of the bill since

         18  I go to a lot of community Council Hearings and I'm,

         19  since I'm interested in health and housing and they

         20  did mention that the New York City Health and

         21  Hospitals are trying to provide for their patients

         22  and, you know, that's what my --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  And I think

         24  they might be able to use some translators.  I don't

         25  know which one of the agencies, but you should be
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          2  able to get, because it's inconceivable that you

          3  have no translators for Spanish and Spanish is one

          4  of the major languages, and even Chinese.  I can't

          5  understand how you can't get a translator.

          6                 MS. BROWN:  And I know, I was very

          7  surprised, especially in the people I went to in the

          8  organizations, not only who were not- for- profits

          9  or they didn't have to pay taxes, as well as the

         10  agency that is working for the Chinese population,

         11  they didn't want any information about the project.

         12  No information, it was just a flat no with rudeness

         13  accompanied.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I have another

         15  suggestion, though, the suggestion is that you check

         16  some of the local universities and they may have

         17  students who are bilingual and they may have folks

         18  who want to volunteer their time in terms of doing

         19  translation.

         20                 MS. BROWN:  Yes, that's why I called

         21  Queens College, the Department for the Aging said

         22  they do translations, but only for their own

         23  clients.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right, so

         25  there are other schools.  There are a number of
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          2  other schools that do --

          3                 MS. BROWN:  I'll try.  They always

          4  say they want to practice, but I haven't found

          5  anything.  So, should I call in the health --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Yeah, you

          7  should call around, I'm not too sure.

          8                 MS. BROWN:  The Council Member who

          9  was in charge of the health Chair, Health Committee?

         10

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I think you can

         12  call Council Member Rivera now.  He's the Chair of

         13  the Health Committee.  But, as I said, I'm not too

         14  sure which one of the agencies that you can get the

         15  help from, but, it's inconceivable that you --

         16                 MS. BROWN:  I find it very  --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  -- Can't get

         18  them.

         19                 MS. BROWN:  -- Strange, since the

         20  Chinese, all these students are going to public

         21  schools, public colleges and I don't think we have

         22  colleges that only speak Chinese.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  No, but there

         24  would be --

         25                 MS. BROWN:  I find it very --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  -- There would

          3  be bilinguals --

          4                 MS. BROWN:  -- Myself.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  -- In the

          6  schools.

          7                 MS. BROWN:  And, excuse me.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Yeah.

          9                 MS. BROWN:  But, the whole sessions

         10  seems to be about funding, which I, I'm used to

         11  spending my own money, so I, it never occurred to me

         12  about funding.  I think I'm entitled to funding.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  But, I am not

         14  too sure that you've made your case in terms of what

         15  you have done so far in terms of, how do I know that

         16  you need funding. Where are you located?

         17                 MS. BROWN:  In Manhattan.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  What part of

         19  Manhattan?

         20                 MS. BROWN:  Gale Brewer's --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right,

         22  well, the first step is to meet with the Council

         23  Member there and tell her what you do, what your

         24  program is all about, and she may be able to give

         25  you direction of how you can access --
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          2                 MS. BROWN:  Okay

          3                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  -- City funding

          4  to get to do what you do.

          5                 MS. BROWN:  I'll talk to her, yes,

          6  we're familiar with each other.  Can I ask a panel

          7  member something?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Well, it's,

          9  it's the --

         10                 MS. BROWN:  No, it'll, one second.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Well, let's put

         12  it this way, the system here is not for --

         13                 MS. BROWN:  Oh, okay.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  -- But you can

         15  do that afterwards.  The system is for me and you

         16  and not to cross --

         17                 MS. BROWN:  Okay, thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.  The

         19  next point that I have here, I wanted to find out,

         20  underemployed or unemployed refugees, is that, you

         21  meant just refugees?

         22                 MS. MICHELSON:  No, refugees,

         23  immigrants and asylees.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Right, because

         25  your testimony seemed to imply that you were just
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          2  dealing with refugees, trying to help refugees only

          3  and when I look around there's as many refugees in

          4  today's society as before and I think there are a

          5  lot of immigrants who would fit into that category,

          6  but they're not necessarily refugees, so that's why

          7  I wanted you to clarify that.

          8                 MS. MICHELSON:  Yeah, thank you for

          9  asking, so, no it's not just refugees.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.  The

         11  question here is, your program, does it involve ESL,

         12  the training and what else, in your placement also?

         13  Could you expand on that a little bit?

         14                 MS. MICHELSON:  Sure, sure, thank

         15  you, I'd be happy to.  No, we don't currently do

         16  ESL.  What we do is mentorings, a one- on- one

         17  mentoring.  We do job interviewing skills and mock

         18  interview sessions.  We do resume reviews in terms

         19  of, as well, as well as teaching about corporate

         20  culture and about how to get along in corporate

         21  world places and things like that.  So, it's very

         22  much about professional skills for professional

         23  workers.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  So, you do

         25  credentialing, also then?
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          2                 MS. MICHELSON:  We help, we help, on,

          3  for the employer side, for the corporations we work

          4  with, we help them to understand immigrant

          5  credentials from other countries.  So, we don't do

          6  credentialing, but we help translate them, so that

          7  they understand what it's equivalent to here in the

          8  U.S.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.

         10                 MS. MICHELSON:  Would you like -- I

         11  think it's very typical that a lot of times that the

         12  people that we help, for instance, have an

         13  engineering degree, but yet they're working as a cab

         14  driver or something like that.  So, there is quite a

         15  few immigrants that are here as well that are

         16  underemployed or unemployed at their degree stage.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  So, but what

         18  about if they do not speak English?

         19                 MS. MICHELSON:  That's not the

         20  population we serve.  We serve professional

         21  immigrants or --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Professional

         23  immigrants --

         24                 MS. MICHELSON:  -- With professional

         25   --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  -- That, they

          3  might --

          4                 MS. MICHELSON:  -- Standing.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  -- Be

          6  professional immigrants, but they don't speak

          7  English.

          8                 MS. MICHELSON:  Right, I don't

          9  believe, though, we provide ESL classes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right, I

         11  just wanted to see if, how close you're connected to

         12  my initiative that I'm doing with CUNY, that's what

         13  it is.

         14                 MS. MICHELSON:  Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right,

         16  well, then, at this time, I just want to thank you

         17  folks for coming in and sharing some light on what's

         18  the status of the services in New York City as far

         19  as immigration is concerned.

         20                 I want to thank you.  I hope we can

         21  continue to have this dialogue and those of you who

         22  haven't had any form of funding from us in the past,

         23  we will follow- up on that to make sure to see what

         24  services that you will be providing and how you can

         25  best serve our immigrants in the City.  Thank you.
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          2                 MS. MICHELSON:  Thank you.

          3                 MS. YANG:  Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Seeing no one,

          5  this service is concluded.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 4:00 p.m.)
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